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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

To the General Assembly of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 

 

A.  Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

 

1. Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as 

the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018 and 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 

ended and the notes to the consolidated financial statements and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and consolidated financial statement notes. 

 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”). 

 

2. Basis for Opinion  

 

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) that are 

part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards 

Authority (the “POA”). Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We hereby 

declare that we are independent of the Group in accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent 

Auditors (the “Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding independent audit in regulations 

issued by POA that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements. We have also fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and regulations. We believe that the 

audit evidence we have obtained during the independent audit provides a sufficient and appropriate basis 

for our opinion.
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3. Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. Key audit matters were addressed in 
the context of our independent audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

Key Audit Matters 
 

 How audit matters are handled 

Financial Investments – Fair value 
measurement of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 

  

 
As explained in Note 3.6 and Note 7, the Group 
has a 37% stake in its ultimate parent, 
Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. and is accounted for at 
fair value and classified as long term available-
for-sale under financial investments in the 
accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
As a result of the fair value study performed by 
the Group as of 31 December 2018, the Group 
recognized its shares in Eczacıbaşı Holding 
A.Ş. at a fair value of TL3,017,850 thousand in 
the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
We focused on this matter during our audit for 
the following reasons below:  
 
- Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. financial 

investment that is carried at fair value is 
material to the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements and the related fair 
value study requires specialist 
involvement. 
 

- The fair value model includes future 
management estimates (ie. weighted 
average cost of capital rate, growth rate 
and minority discount) where realization of 
such management estimates in the future 
includes inherent uncertainties. 

 

  
In summary, the following audit procedures 
are performed in the audit of fair value 
measurement study of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.: 
 
- Mathematical accuracy of the consistency 

of the information used in fair value study 
with the financial statements and related 
calculation are checked. 

 
- Valuation methods and technical data used 

are evaluated, with the support of our 
specialists, by conducting interviews with 
the expert and the Group management who 
carried out the related work. 

 
- The expertise of those, who carried out the 

valuation study, is assessed in accordance 
with SIA 500 “Audit Evidence”. 

 
- Data from external sources, such as 

“market value” and “similar acquisitions”, 
used in the valuation models are compared 
to the relevant independent data sources. 

 
- The reasonableness of the key management 

estimates used in the discounted cash flow 
models (ie. weighted average cost of capital 
rate, long term growth rates and minority 
discount) are evaluated with the support of 
our specialists and the sensitivity analysis 
performed are checked. In addition, the 
future revenue estimates used in modeling 
are compared to the prior period results 
and future budgets of related companies. 

 
- The compliance of the related disclosures 

with respect to financial investments with 
TFRS are checked. 
 

Based on the above procedures performed we 
had no material finding on the financial 
investments. 

  



 

 

 

4. Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the  

Consolidated Financial Statements  

 

The Group management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with TFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

 

5. Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Responsibilities of independent auditors in an independent audit are as follows: 

 

Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an independent auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance expressed as a result of an independent audit 

conducted in accordance with SIA is a high level of assurance but does not guarantee that a material 

misstatement will always be detected. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.  

 

As part of an independent audit conducted in accordance with SIA, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
  



 

 

 

5. Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Continued) 

 

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control.  

 

- Assess the internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  
 

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of our independent auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion.    

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit. 

  



 

 

 

5. Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Continued) 

 

We provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence.  We also communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards.   

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.   

 

B. Other Responsibilities Arising From Regulatory Requirements 

 

1. No matter has come to our attention that is significant according to subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of 

Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) No. 6102 and that causes us to believe that the Company’s 

bookkeeping activities concerning the period from 1 January to 31 December 2018 period are not in 

compliance with the TCC and provisions of the Company’s articles of association related to financial 

reporting. 

 

2. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of the TCC, the Board of Directors submitted the 

necessary explanations to us and provided the documents required within the context of our audit. 

 

3. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 398 of the TCC, the auditor’s report on the early risk 

identification system and committee was submitted to the Company’s Board of Directors on  

27 February 2019.  

 

 

PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve 

Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 

 

 

 

 

Ediz Günsel, SMMM 

Partner 

 

Istanbul, 27 February 2019  
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 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

ASSETS 
 

Current assets 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 619,899 506,419 

Financial investments 

   - Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 1,146 354 

Trade receivables 

   - Trade receivables from related parties 9 468 583 

   - Trade receivables from third parties 10 185,667 145,393 

Other receivables 

   - Other receivables from related parties 9 370 257 

   - Other receivables from third parties 11 120 126 

Derivative financial instruments  - 5,434 

Inventories 12 87,536 72,636 

Prepaid expenses 13 2,522 2,209 

Current income tax assets 14 13,810 63 

Other current assets 20 845 7,850 
 

Total current assets  912,383 741,324 

 

Non-current assets 

 

Other receivables 

   - Other receivables from related parties 9 331 263 

   - Other receivables from third parties 11 12 12 

Financial investments 

   - Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 3,392 3,185 

   - Financial assets at fair value through 

      other comprehensive income 7 3,019,743 2,588,218 

Investments accounted for using equity method 4 123,873 101,820 

Investment properties 15 357,183 361,789 

Property, plant and equipment 16 6,048 6,066 

Intangible assets 17 14,396 10,620 

Prepaid expenses 13 1,136 1,192 

Deferred tax assets 28 5,777 6,744 

Other non-current assets 20 12,198 10,142 
 

Total non-current assets  3,544,089 3,090,051 
 

TOTAL ASSESTS  4,456,472 3,831,375 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF  

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH 

 

EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

2 

 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

LIABILITIES 
 

Current liabilities 

 

Short term borrowings 

   - Short term borrowings to related parties 8 35,902 3,600 

Trade payables 

   - Trade payables from related parties 9 7,065 3,767 

   - Trade payables from third parties 10 186,616 132,203 

Employee benefit obligations 19 1,060 1,125 

Other payables 

   - Other payables from third parties 11 6,123 4,599 

Deferred income 13 450 782 

Current income tax liabilities 28 - 7,829 

Short term provisions 

   - Short term provisions for employee benefits 19 2,956 2,751 

   - Other short term provisions 18 1,453 894 

Short term liabilities due to investment accounted 

   for using the equity method 4 - 52,500 

Other current liabilities 20 112 96 
 

Total current liabilities  241,737 210,146 

 

Non-current liabilities 

 

Long term borrowings 

   - Long term borrowings to third parties 8 48,076 15,032 

Deferred income 13 19,498 - 

Long term provisions 

   - Long term provisions for employee benefits 19 4,079 2,953 

Deferred tax liabilities 28 145,238 122,589 
 

Total non-current liabilities  216,891 140,574 
 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  458,628 350,720 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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   Revised 

   (Note 2) 

 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

EQUITY 

 

Attributable to equity holders of the Company  3,997,807 3,480,588 

 

Paid-in share capital 21 685,260 685,260 

Adjustments to share capital 21 105,777 105,777 

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss 

 - Defined benefit plans re-measurement gains / losses  (4,058) (3,874) 

   - Gains / losses on financial assets measured at 

 fair value through other comprehensive income (*)  2,746,184 2,332,744 

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss 

- Foreign currency conversion adjustments  10,010 10,010 

Restricted reserves 21 199,697 168,095 

Retained earnings  14,818 36,481 

Net income for the period  240,119 146,095 
 

Non-controlling interests  37 67 
 

TOTAL EQUITY  3,997,844 3,480,655 
 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  4,456,472 3,831,375 
 

(*) “Gains / losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” is 

presented under “Other revaluatin on remeasurement gains” in PDP (KAP) templates. 

 

Consolidated financials for the period between 1 January - 31 December 2018 were approved by the Board of 

Directors on February 27, 2019. However they will be finalized after they will be approved in general assembly 

meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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  1 January - 1 January - 

 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Revenue 22 692,094 597,909 

Cost of sales (-) 22 (447,692) (363,476) 
 

GROSS PROFIT  244,402 234,433 
 

General administrative expenses (-) 23 (62,692) (62,074) 

Marketing expenses (-) 23 (128,665) (115,465) 

Other operating income 25 368,030 197,014 

Other operating expenses (-) 25 (212,712) (124,849) 
 

OPERATING PROFIT  208,363 129,059 
 

Income from investing activities 26 72,599 146,705 

Expenses from investing activities (-)  (4) (174) 

Share of (loss) / income of investments 

  accounted for using equity method 4 5,006 (115,824) 
 

Operating income before finance expense  285,964 159,766 
 

Financial income 27 26,999 17,087 

Financial expenses (-) 27 (17,712) (5,976) 
 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  295,251 170,877 
 

Tax expense from continuing operations  (55,162) (28,137) 
 

Income tax expense (-) 28 (53,075) (26,622) 

Deferred tax (expenses) / income 28 (2,087) (1,515) 
 

Profit from continuing operations  240,089 142,740 
 

Profit / (loss) from discontinued operations 30 - 6,791 
 

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  240,089 149,531 

 

Attributable to 

 Non-controlling interests  (30) 3,436 

 Equity holders of the parent  240,119 146,095 
 

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  240,089 149,531 

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

   with face value of KR 1 each  68,526,000,000 68,526,000,000 

 

Basic earnings per share 
 

Basic earnings per share from continuous operations 29 0.3504  0.2080 

Basic earnings / (loss) per share 

   from discontinued operations 29 -  0.0051 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF  

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH 

 

EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

5 

   Revised 

   (Note 2) 

  1 January - 1 January - 

 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Profit for the period  240,089 149,531 
 

Items that not to be reclassified to profit or loss:    
 

Losses on remeasurements of defined benefit plans  (192) - 

Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted  

  for using equity method that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    

- Gains on remeasurements of defined benefit plans 

      from investments accounted for using equity method 4 8 - 

- Share of other comprehensive income of investments 

      accounted for using equity method that will not be  

      reclassified to profit or loss 4 3,497 7,559 

Gains / losses on financial assets measured at fair value 

     through other comprehensive income (*)  431,516 435,254 

Gains / losses on financial assets measured at fair value 

     through other comprehensive income, tax effect (**) 28 (21,573) (21,763) 
 

Other comprehensive (expenses) / income  413,256 421,050 
 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  653,345 570,581 

 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) attributable to: 

 

 Non-controlling interest  (30) 3,777 

 Equity holders of the parent  653,375 566,804 
 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  653,345 570,581 

 

(*) “Gains / losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” is presented under 

“Other revaluatin on remeasurement gains” in PDP (KAP) templates. 

 

(**) “Gains / losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, tax effect” 

is presented under “Other revaluatin on remeasurement gains, tax effect” in PDP (KAP) templates. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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 Items that will Items that will 
 be reclassified not be reclassified  
 subsequently subsequently  
 to profit to profit  
          or loss                   or loss                             
           

  Gains on financial   Gains on financial       
  assets measured   assets measured               Retained earnings  
  at fair value Foreign Defined at fair value    Attributable  
 Paid in Adjustments through other currency benefit plans through other   Net profit to equity Non  
 Share to share comprehensive translation re-measurement comprehensive Restricted Retained for the holders of controlling Total 
 sermaye capital    income differences gains/(losses) income reserves earnings period company interest Equity 

 
As previously reported 
   at 1 January 2017 685,260 105,777 1,912,833 10,010 (4,228) - 277,913 78,387 184,803 3,250,755 (6,265) 3,244,490 
TFRS 9 policy change 
   transition effect (Note 2) - - (1,912,833) - - 1,912,833 - - - - - - 
As of 1 January 2017 
   (revised) 685,260 105,777 - 10,010 (4,228) 1,912,833 277,913 78,387 184,803 3,250,755 (6,265) 3,244,490 
Transfers - - - - - - 50,616 134,187 (184,803) - - - 
Dividend paid - - - - - - (160,434) (182,196) - (342,630) - (342,630) 
Acquisition / disposal effect  
   of subsidiary - - - - 354 (798) - 6,103 - 5,659 2,555 8,214 
Total comprehesive income / (expense) - - - - - 420,709 - - 146,095 566,804 3,777 570,581 
 

31 December 2017 (revised) 685,260 105,777 - 10,010 (3,874) 2,332,744 168,095 36,481 146,095 3,480,588 67 3,480,655 

 
As previously reported 
   at 1 January 2018 685,260 105,777 2,332,744 10,010 (3,874) - 168,095 36,481 146,095 3,480,588 67 3,480,655 
TFRS 9 policy change 
   transition effect (Note 2) - - (2,332,744) - - 2,332,744 - - - - - - 
As of 1 January 2018 
   (revised) 685,260 105,777 - 10,010 (3,874) 2,332,744 168,095 36,481 146,095 3,480,588 67 3,480,655 
Transfers - - - - - - 30,602 115,493 (146,095) - - - 
Dividend paid - - - - - - - (137,052) - (137,052) - (137,052) 
Disposal effect of subsidiary (*) - - - - - - - (104) - (104) - (104) 
Total comprehesive income / (expense) - - - - (184) 413,440 - - 240,119 653,375 (30) 653,345 
Other (**) - - - - - - 1,000 - - 1,000 - 1,000 
 

31 December 2018 685,260 105,777 - 10,010 (4,058) 2,746,184 199,697 14,818 240,119 3,997,807 37 3,997,844 

 
(*) The procedures related to the liquidation process of Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd., registered in Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus and informally active, have been initiated on 31 January 2018, no. 89, no. 

11, dated June 11, 2018; Announcement was made in the V. Annex of Official Gazette and the termination procedure has been completed. The termination was announced on 4 July 2018 and it is approved by 
the Official Cabinet Office and the Register Office in Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus. 

 

(**) In fiscal year 2018 the Group has taken the advantage of corporate tax deduction in the amount of TL 1,000 thousand. 
 

 The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  1 January - 1 January - 

 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

A. Cash flows from operating activities  175,271 79,141 
 

Profit for the period  240,089 149,531 
 

Adjustments for reconciliation of profit / loss for the period 
Adjustments for depreciation and amortisation 15, 16, 17 10,343 10,333 

Adjustments for employment termination benefits 19, 24 3,206 1,076 

Adjustments for litigations 18, 25 559 350 

Adjustments for impairments of receivables 10 1,109 159 

Provision for diminution in value of inventories, net 12 1,459 1,511 

Adjustments for earnings from 

disposal of subsidiaries income 26 (20) (47,302) 

Loss / (gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment, net 26 (11) (6) 

Group’s share in the (profit) / loss of investments accounted for 

   using equity method 4 (21,331) (12,299) 

Adjustment for impairement 4 16,326 128,123 

Adjustments for interest incomes 25 (57,755) (33,261) 

Adjustments for interest expenses 25, 27 20,121 8,742 

Adjustments for income tax expense / (income) 28 55,162 28,137 

Adjustments for fair value losses (gains) of derivative 

   financial insturements 27 (15,999) (17,074) 

Adjustments for fair value losses of financial assets 26 (999) (61) 

Adjustments related to profit share income / (expenses) 9, 26 (71,569) (99,396) 

Adjustments for unrecognized foreign exchange differences  11,112 46,253 

Other adjustments related to non-cash items 

   expense / income accruals  718 (3,387) 

Adjustments related to discontinued operations, net 30 - 11,966 
 

  192,520 173,395 
 

Changes in working capital    

Adjustments for increase / decrease in trade receivables  (40,635) (86,090) 

Adjustments for increase / decrease in inventories  (21,296) 11,585 

Adjustments for increase / decrease in trade payables  57,723 69,554 

Adjustments for increase / decrease in other receivables 

   related to operations  (6,338) (35,491) 

Increase / decrease in prepaid expenses  (257) 456 

Increase / decrease in other payables related to operations  1,475 (1,000) 

Increase / decrease in deferred income  19,166 2,926 

Cash flows related to discontinued operations, net 30 - (47,461) 
 

  9,838 (85,521) 
 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Interest received  58,227 34,510 

Taxes returns / (payments)  (74,714) (36,922) 

Payments related with provisions for employee benefits 19 (1,867) (926) 

Interest paid  (8,733) (4,474) 

Cash flows related to discontinued operations, net 30 - (921) 
 

  (27,087) (8,733) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  1 January - 1 January - 

 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

B. Cash flows from investing activities  1,123 76,129 
 

Cash outflows from the purchase of tangible and 

   intangible assets 16, 17 (8,273) (6,169) 

Cash inflows from the sale of tangible and 

   intangible assets  52 31 

Cash inflows from sale of investment property 15 12,366 11,809 

Cash outflows from investment property purchases 15 (8,672) (1,768) 

Cash outflows from capital advance payments to joint 

   ventures and associates 4 (68,826) (75,623) 

Cash inflows from sale of tangible assets  124 49,847 

Dividends received  74,352 101,127 

Net cash flows related to discontinued operations 30 - (3,125) 
 

C. Cash flows from financing activities  (63,074) (310,521) 
 

Cash  (outflows) / inflows from bank borrowings  64,663 (1,958) 

Cash inflows from derivative financial instruments  21,433 18,152 

Dividends paid  (137,052) (342,630) 

Interest paid  (12,118) (4,551) 

Net cash flows related to discontinued operations 30 - 20,466 
 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)  113,320 (155,251) 
 

D. Cash and cash equivalents at the 

     beginning of the period 6 505,251 660,502 
 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 

   (A+B+C+D)  6 618,571 505,251 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 1 - ORGANISATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP 

 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (the “Company”) was established on  

24 October 1951. The Company has no production activity; but has a holding structure with its subsidiaries, joint 

ventures and associates. The Company directly operates in the real estate development industry and in health, 

personal care and cosmetics industries through its joint ventures, subsidiaries and associates. 

 

The Company’s registered address is as follows: 

 

Büyükdere Caddesi, Ali Kaya Sokak No: 5 Levent 34394, İstanbul. 

 

The Company is registered with the Capital Markets Board of Turkey (“CMB”) and its shares have been quoted on 

the Borsa İstanbul A.Ş. (“BIST”) (formerly named as İstanbul Menkul Kıymetler Borsası (“İMKB”)) since 1990. 

As of 31 December 2018, 19.70% (31 December 2017: 20.02%) of total shares are quoted on the BIST. The 

ultimate parent company of the Group is Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş., which possesses 50.62% (31 December 2017: 

50.62%) shares of the Company (Note 21). The ultimate parent of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. is managed by 

Eczacıbaşı family. 

 

As of 31 December 2018, the personnel number of the Group is 397 (31 December 2017: 477). 

 

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are referred to as the “Group” in these 

notes. The operations of the subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates included in the consolidation are stated 

below: 

 

Subsidiaries 

 

The Company’s subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries”), the nature of businesses of the Subsidiaries and their business 

segments are as follows: 

 

Companies accounted by line consolidation: 
 

Subsidiaries Nature of business Segment 
 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. (“EİP”)  Marketing and selling of pharmaceuticals Health 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. (“EİT”) Marketing and selling of pharmaceuticals Health 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd. (“Eczacıbaşı Cyprus”) (*) Marketing and selling of pharmaceuticals Health 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. 

   (“Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul”) Real estate development Construction 
 

(*) The procedures related to the liquidation process of Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd., registered in Turkish Republic of 

Northern Cyprus and informally active, were initiated on 31 January 2018, no. 89, no. 11, dated June 11, 2018; 

Announcement was made in the V. Annex of Official Gazette and the termination procedure was completed. The 

termination was announced on 4 July 2018 and it is approved by the Official Cabinet Office and the Register Office in 

Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus. All subsidiaries other than Eczacıbaşı Cyprus are registered in Turkey. 

 

Joint Ventures 

 

The Company’s joint ventures (the “Joint Ventures”) are listed below. All Joint Ventures are registered in 

Turkey. The nature of business of the Joint Ventures and their respective businesses segments for the purpose of 

the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

 

Joint Ventures Nature of business Partner Segment 
 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane 

     Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“EBX”) Serum production and sales Baxter S.A. Health 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi Radiopharmaceuticals Uğur Bozluolçay and  

     ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Eczacıbaşı-Monrol”) production and sales Şükrü Bozluolçay Health 
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NOTE 1 - ORGANISATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP (Continued) 

 

Associates 
 

The associates of the Group (“Associates”) and their respective business segments are as follows: 

 

Associates Nature of business 
 

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. (“Ekom”) Export services 

Vitra Karo Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Vitra Karo”) Production of ceramic tiles 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. (“ESH”) (*) Special care and nursing services 

Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. (“OSGB”) (*) Occupational health and safety services 

Eczacıbaşı Shire Sağlık Ürünleri  

   Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Eczacıbaşı Shire”) Marketing and selling of pharmaceuticals 
 

(*) Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. has decided to suspend its activities and operation within the scope 

of the Board of Directors' decision dated 15 March 2018 and the Law No. 6331 on Occupational Health and Safety 

Law. Within this respect; Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. and Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş has 

decided to merge, legal process of this merge has registered as of 31 October 2018. 

 

 

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

2.1 Basis of presentation 

 

2.1.1  Statement of compliance 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Turkish Financial 

Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) promulgated by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards 

Authority (“POA”) that are set out in the 5th article of the communiqué numbered II-14.1 “Communiqué on the 

Principles of Financial Reporting In Capital Markets” (“the Communiqué”) announced by the Capital Markets 

Board (“CMB”) on 13 June 2013 and published in Official Gazette numbered 28676. 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with the “Announcement 

regarding to TAS Taxonomy” which was published on 2 June 2016 by POA and the format and mandatory 

information recommended by CMB.  

 

With the decision law numbered 11/367 taken on 17 March 2005, the CMB announced that, effective from  

1 January 2005, for companies operating in Turkey and preparing their financial statements in accordance with 

CMB Financial Reporting Standards, the application of inflation accounting is no longer required. The 

accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law. 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the financial 

assets and liabilities which are expressed with their fair values. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value 

of the consideration given in exchange for assets. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.1 Basis of presentation (continued) 
 
2.1.2  Continuity concept 
 
Group’s consodilated financial statements prepared in accordance with continuity principle. 
 
2.1.3  Functional currency 
 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated 

financial statements are presented in TL, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation 

currency of the Group. 
 
2.1.4  Basis of consolidation 
 
Subsidiaries: 
 
The proportion of voting power held by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar 

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı Family members and the total proportion of ownership 

interests at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are presented below: 
 
 Proportion of Proportion of Total Total 
 voting power held voting power held proportion of proportion of 
 by the Company and its Ecazcıbaşı Family voting power ownership 
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries (%) members (%) held (%) interests (%) 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 

EİP 99.92 99.92 0.02 0.02 99.94 99.94 99.92 99.92 
EİT 99.88 99.88 - - 99.88 99.88 99.88 99.88 
Eczacıbaşı Cyprus (*) - 100.00 - - - 100.00 - 99.96 
Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul 99.49 99.49 0.02 0.02 99.51 99.51 99.49 99.49 
 
(*) The procedures related to the liquidation process of Eczacıbaşı İlaç (Cyprus) Ltd., registered in Turkish Republic of 

Northern Cyprus and informally active, were initiated on 31 January 2018, no. 89, no. 11, dated June 11, 2018; 
Announcement was made in the V. Annex of Official Gazette and the termination procedure was completed. The 
termination was announced on 4 July 2018 and it is approved by the Official Cabinet Office and the Register Office in 
Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus. All subsidiaries other than Eczacıbaşı Cyprus are registered in Turkey. 

 

Subsidiaries are companies in which EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. has 

power to control the financial and operating policies for the benefit of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal 

Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. either through the power to exercise more than 50% of the voting rights 

relating to shares in the companies as a result of shares owned directly and indirectly by itself and / or by certain 

Eczacıbaşı Family members and companies whereby EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve 

Ticaret A.Ş. exercises control over the voting rights of (but does not have the economic benefit of) the shares 

held by them or although not having the power to exercise more than 50% of the voting rights, through the 

exercise of actual dominant influence over the financial and operating policies. Proportion of ownership interest 

represents the effective shareholding of the Group through the shares held by EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and indirectly by its Subsidiaries. 

 

Control is achieved when the Company: 
 

 has power over the investee; 

 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.1 Basis of presentation (continued) 
 
2.1.4  Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 
Subsidiaries (continued): 
 
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the 
voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The 
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an 
investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 
 

 the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 
other vote holders; 

 potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 

 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns 
at previous shareholders’ meetings. 

 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the 
date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 
 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into 
line with the Group’s accounting policies. 
 
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
 
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries: 
 
Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the 

subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-

controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference 

between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 

received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 

 

If the Group loses control in a subsidiary, the profit / (loss) after-sales is calculated as the difference between the sale 

price and the fair value of the remaining share, and the difference between the assets (including goodwill) and 

liabilities and the previous carrying amounts of non-controlling interests. In other comprehensive income, the amounts 

previously accounted for in relation to the subsidiary and collected in equity are recognized according to the 

accounting method that will be used on the assumption that the Company has sold the related assets (eg transfer to 

profit / loss or transfer directly to prior years' profits according to the relevant TMS standards).  
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.1 Basis of presentation (continued) 
 
2.1.4  Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

Joint Ventures: 

 

The proportion of voting power held on joint ventures by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve 

Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı Family members and the total 

proportion of ownership interests at 31 December are presented below: 

 

  Proportion of   

 Proportion of voting  Total 

 voting power held power held by Total proportion proportion of 

 by the Company and Eczacıbaşı Family of voting power ownership 

Joint Ventures its Subsidiaries (%) members (%) held (%) interests (%) 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 

EBX 50.00 50.00 - - 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (*) 50.00 50.00 - - 50.00 50.00 84.00 84.00 
 

(*) With the additional agreement protocol entered into force on 30 October 2017, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal 

Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş and Bozluolçay Holding A.Ş. have not participated in capital increase in Eczacıbaşı 

Monrol at the same rate, but Bozluolçay Holding A.Ş. has committed to participate in mentioned capital increase in 

following next 5 years. However, the controls on both sides on Eczacıbaşı - Monrol remain equal. 
 

The subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve 

Ticaret A.Ş are presented below: 

 

  Direct and Total proportion 

  indirect control of ownership interests 

  of Eczacıbaşı - of Eczacıbaşı -  

  Monrol (%) Monrol (%) 

 Country 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 

Monrol Poland LTD (*) Polond - 100.00 - 100.00 

Monrol Europe SRL  Romania 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Monrol Egypt for Manufacturing LLC Egypt 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Radiopharma Egypt (S.A.E.) Egypt 75.00 75.00 75.00 75.00 

Monrol Bulgaria LTD Bulgaria 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Eczacıbaşı Monrol Nuclear Products 

   Industry & Trade Co - Jordan Jordan 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Monrol MENA LTD Dubai 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

HSM Consulting LTD Dubai 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 

Monrol Gulf DMCC Dubai 80.00 80.00 80.00 80.00 
 

(*) Sold on 26 March 2018 to Synektik S.A. 

 

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 

the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 

which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 

control.  
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.1 Basis of presentation (continued) 
 
2.1.4  Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

Associates: 

 

The proportion of voting power held by the parent company, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar 

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., its Subsidiaries and Eczacıbaşı family members and the total proportion of ownership 

interests in Associates accounted for using the equity method at 31 December are presented below: 

 

 Proportion of Proportion of   

 voting power voting power   

 held by the held by  Total 

 Company and Eczacıbaşı Family Total proportion proportion of 

 its subsidiaries members of voting power ownership 

Associates (%) (%) held (%) interests (%) 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 

ESH (*) 45.35 45.35 0.10 0.10 45.45 45.45 45.31 45.31 

Ekom 26.36 26.36 1.72 1.72 28.08 28.08 26.36 26.36 

OSGB (*) - 45.35 - - - 45.35 - 45.31 

Vitra Karo (**) 25.00 25.00 0.92 0.92 25.92 25.92 25.00 25.00 

Eczacıbaşı Shire 50.00 50.00 - - 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 
 

(*) Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. has decided to suspend its activities and operation 

within the scope of the Board of Directors' decision dated 15 March 2018 and the Law No. 6331 on 

Occupational Health and Safety Law. Within this respect; Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. and 

Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş has decided to merge, legal process of this merge has 

registered as of 31 October 2018. 

 
(**) The subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of Vitra Karo are as follows: 

 
  Direct or indirect control 

 Country   of Vitra Karo (%) 

      2018 2017 
 

Vitra Fliesen GmbH & Co. KG Germany 100.00 100.00 

Engers Keramik Verwaltungs GmbH Germany 100.00 100.00 

Vitra Tiles Llc. Russia 100.00 100.00 

Vitra Ireland Ltd. Ireland 93.41 93.41 

Villeroy & Boch Fliesen GmbH Germany 97.71 97.71 

ZAO Vitra Bath and Tiles JSC Russia 50.00 50.00 

 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over 

those policies. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.1 Basis of presentation (continued) 

 

2.1.4  Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial 

statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as 

held for sale. Under the equity method, an investment in associate or a joint venture is initially recognized in the 

consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or a joint venture. When the Group's share of losses 

of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or a joint venture (which includes any 

long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or a joint venture), the 

Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that 

the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or a joint 

venture. 

 

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which 

the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint 

venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable 

assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the 

investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the 

cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the 

investment is acquired.  

 

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate or 

a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the 

former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained 

interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance 

with TFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity 

method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part 

interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the 

associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that 

associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income by  that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to 

profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to 

profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.  

 

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 

transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only 

to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 

 

Significant changes in accounting policies are applied retrospectively and prior period financial statements are 

restated. Group’s significant accounting policies that are used for the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 are consistent with accounting policies presented in the 

consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2017, except for accounting policies related to the first 

transition to TFRS 15 "Revenue from contracts with customers" and TFRS 9, “Financial instruments” standards 

as set out in Note 2.2.1 and Note 2.2.2. 

 

2.2.1 TFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” standard 

 

Revenue recognition 

 

In accordance with TFRS 15 "Revenue Standard from Contracts with Customers", which is effective as of  

1 January 2018, Group accounts in the financial statements of the revenue consignment in accordance with the 

following five-tiered model. 

 

 Identification of customer contracts 

 Identification of performance obligations 

 Determination of transaction price in the contract 

 Allocation of price to performance obligations 

 Recognition of revenue 
 

The Group assesses the goods or services undertaken by each contract made with the customers and sets each 

commitment to transfer such goods or services as a separate performance obligation.. 

 

For each performance obligation, at the beginning of the contract, the obligation to fulfill the obligation is to be 

delivered in time or at a certain time. When the control of a good or service is over time and the Group fulfills its 

performance obligations related to sales in a timely manner, the Group takes the financial statements in the 

console at the expiration time by measuring the progress towards fulfillment of the fulfillment obligations. 

 

When Group fulfills the obligation to perform the obligation by transferring a promised good or service to the 

customer, it records the transaction value corresponding to the obligation as revenue in the consolidated financial 

statements. When the control of the goods or services is overtaken by the customers (or as they pass) the goods 

or services are transferred. 

 

When Group evaluates the transfer of the customer for the control of the goods or services sold, 

 

a) Group owns the right to collect the goods or services,, 

b) Owns legal ownership of the goods or services,  

c) The transfer of the possession of the goods or services, 

d) Ownership of the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the property of the customer, 

e) Takes into consideration the conditions under which the customer accepts goods or services. 

 

Group does not make any adjustments to the effect of a significant financing component at the commitment price  

if the contract at the outset suggests that the period between the transfer date of the goods or services undertaken 

by the customer and the date the customer pays the price of the goods or services is one year or less. If the other 

party has significant financing within the revenue, the revenue value is determined by discounting future 

collections with the interest rate included in the financing element. The difference is recorded in the related 

periods as Other income from the main operations on the accrual basis. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.2.1 TFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” standard (continued) 

 

Transition to TFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” 

 

Group recognizes rental income on an accrual basis. The effective interest method is used in accounting of 

interest income. Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive dividends is established. 

 

Group has applied TFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”, which has replaced TAS 18, by using 

cumulative effect method on the transition date, 1 January 2018. With this method, Group made evaluation 

studies to determine the cumulative effect of the transition to the TFRS 15 standard and concluded that no 

changes should be made to the consolidated financial statements. 

 

2.2.2  TFRS 9 “Financial assets” standard 

 

Classification and measurement 

 

Group classified its financial assets in three categories; financial assets carried at amortized cost, financial assets 

carried at fair value though profit of loss, financial assets carried at fair value though other comprehensive 

income. Classification is performed in accordance with the business model determined based on the purpose of 

benefits from financial assets and expected cash flows. Management performs the classification of financial 

assets at the acquisition date. 

 

a) Assets recognized at amortized cost 

 

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of 

principal and interest, whose payments are fixed or predetermined, which are not actively traded and which are 

not derivative instruments are measured at amortized cost. They are included in current assets, except for 

maturities more than 12 months after the balance sheet date. Those with maturities more than 12 months are 

classified as non-current assets. The Group’s financial assets carried at amortized cost comprise “trade 

receivables" and "cash and cash equivalents” in the statement of financial position. In addition, with recourse 

factoring receivables classified in trade receivables are classified as financial assets carried at amortized cost 

since collection risk for those receivables are not transferred to counterparty. 

 

Impairment 

 

Group has applied simplified approach and used impairment matrix for the calculation of impairment on its 

receivables carried at amortized cost, since they do not comprise of any significant finance component. In 

accordance with this method, if any provision provided to the trade receivables as a result of a specific events, 

Group measures expected credit loss from these receivables by the life-time expected credit loss. The calculation 

of expected credit loss is performed based on the past experience of the Group and its expectations for the future 

indications. 

 

b) Financial assets carried at fair value 

 

Assets that are held by the management for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial 

assets are measured at their fair value. If the management do not plan to dispose these assets in 12 months after 

the balance sheet date, they are classified as non-current assets. Group make a choice for the equity instruments 

during the initial recognition and elect profit or loss or other comprehensive income for the presentation of fair 

value gain and loss. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.2.2  TFRS 9 “Financial assets” standard (continued) 
 
b) Financial assets carried at fair value (continued) 
 

i) Financial assets carried  at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss comprise of “derivative instruments” in the statement 

of financial position. Derivative instruments are recognized as asset when the fair value of the instrument is 

positive, as liability when the fair value of the instrument is negative. Group’s financial instruments at fair value 

through profit or loss consist of forward contracts, currency swaps and cross currency fixed interest rate swap. 

 

ii) Financial assets carried at value through other comprehensive income 

 

Financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income comprise of “financial assets” in the 

statement of financial position. In addition, trade receivables collected from factoring companies due to without 

recourse factoring activities are classified as financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive 

income since the collection risk of these receivables are transferred to the factoring companies and 

management’s business plan for them is “hold to sell”. When the financial assets carried at fair value through 

other comprehensive income are sold, fair value gain or loss classified in other comprehensive income is 

classified to retained earnings. 

 

Transition to TFRS 9 “Financial assets” standard 

 

The Group has applied TFRS 9 “Financial Instruments ”as the first application date as of 1 January 2018, 

replacing TAS 39. It includes requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and 

liabilities, as well as the expected credit risk model to replace the currently used impairment model. The Group 

has carried out evaluations to determine the cumulative impact of the first transition, the transition effect of the 

policy change is explained within the note “Comparative information and restatement of prior period financial 

statements” (Note: 2.3.1). 
 
Changes in the classification of financial assets and liabilities under TFRS 9 are summarized below: 
 
 Previous classification New classification 

Financial assets according to TAS 39 according to TFRS 9 
 

Cash and cash equivalents Borrowings and receivables Amortized cost 
Trade receivables Borrowings and receivables Amortized cost 
Derivative financial instruments Financial assets at fair value Financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss through profit or loss 
Financial investments Financial investments Financial assets at fair value 
 available for sale through other comprehensive income 
 
 Previous classification New classification 

Financial liabilities according to TAS 39 according to TFRS 9 
 

Derivative financial intruments Financial assets at fair value  Financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss through profit or los 
Bank borrowings Amortised cost Amortized cos 
Financial lease payables Amortised cost Amortized cos 
Factoring payables Amortised cost Amortized cos 
Trade payables Amortised cost Amortized cos 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.2.3  TFRS 16 “Lease operations” standard 

 

KGK has issued TFRS 16 ”Leases TF standard in April 2018. The new standard eliminates the leasing of 

operating leases and leasing, and requires many leases for leasing companies to be included in the balance sheet 

under a single model. For leasing companies, the recognition has not changed substantially and the difference 

between operating leases and financial leasing continues. TFRS 16 replaces TAS 17 and TAS 17 and is effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 

 

Tenants have the exception of not applying this standard to short-term rentals (leases with a rental period of 12 

months or less) or to leases where the underlying asset is of low value (eg personal computers, some office 

equipment, etc.). At the date when the leasing is actually started, the lessee measures the leasing liability on the 

present value of the lease payments that were not paid at that date (leasing liability) and depreciates the existence 

of the right of use related to the same date as the same date. Lease payments are discounted using this rate if the 

implied interest rate in the lease can be easily determined. If the ratio is not easily determined, the lessee shall 

use the tenant's alternative borrowing interest rate. The lessee should record the interest expense on the lease 

liability and the depreciation expense of the right to use separately. 

 

In the certain situations, the lessee shall re-measure the lease obligation (eg changes in the lease term, future 

lease payments vary due to changes in a certain index or rate, etc.). In this case, the lessee shall record the 

restatement effect of the lease obligation as a correction on the right to use. 

 

The Group is still analyzing the impact of the standard on financial position or performance of the Group.  

The preliminary analyzes are as follows: 

 

Transition to TFRS 16 “Lease operations” standard 

 

The Group plans to implement TFRS 16 with a simplified retrospective approach. The Group will prefer to apply 

this Standard on the agreements defined as lease according to TMS 17 “Lease Operations” and  

TFRS Interpretation 4 “Determining whether an Agreement includes a Lease Agreement”. For this reason, the 

Group will not apply this Standard to the contracts previously defined by TAS 17 and TFRS Comment 4. 

 

In 2018, the Group carried out a detailed impact analysis to determine the transition effects to TFRS 16. The 

effects of transition to TFRS 16 are expected to be summarized as follows: 

 

Effects on the statement of financial position at 31 December 2018 (increase / (decrease): 

 

Assets 

Prepaid expenses TL (3) thousand  

Tangible assets (right of use asset)  TL 18,790 thousand 

 

Liabilities  

Lease libilities TL 18,787 thousand 

 

Due to the transition to TFRS 16, there will be an improvement in the Group's main operating profit; there will 

be an increase in financing expenses. This is due to the change in the accounting of leases that were accounted 

for as operating leases in the previous periods. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.3 Changes in the accounting estimates and errors 
 

If changes in estimates are for only one period, changes are applied to the current year but if changes in estimates 

are for the following periods, changes are applied both to the current and following years prospectively. The Group 

did not have any major changes in the accounting estimates during the current year. 

 

Significant accounting errors are corrected retrospectively, by restating the prior period consolidated financial 

statements. 
 

2.3.1  Comparative information and restatement of prior period financial statements 
 

Consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared comparatively with the prior period in order 

to give accurate trend analysis regarding financial position and performance. In order to maintain consistency 

with current year consolidated financial statements, comparative information is reclassified and significant 

changes are disclosed where necessary. 

 

Except the following amendments, the Group has applied consistent accounting policies in the consolidated 

financial statements for the period presented and has no material changes in the accounting policies and estimates 

in the current period. 
 

- In consolidated financial statement of equity, "Gains on financial assets measured at fair value through 

other comprehensive income", which used to classified to "Other comprehensive income to be reclassified 

to profit or loss", amounting to TL 2,332,744 thousand; has been classified to “Other comprehensive 

income not to be reclassified to profit or loss “ in accordance to transition to TFRS 9 “Financial 

Instruments” standards as of 31 December 2017. The Group has applied the transition to TFRS 9 

retrospectively, and in accordance with TMS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 

and Errors” standard changes has been applied as of 1 January 2017. Transition effects has shown in the 

equity movement table. The correction made is only the classification difference in equity and has no 

effect on other balance sheet items, income statement and cash flow statement. The effect of this change 

is shown in the opening balance of the equity movement table on 1 January 2017. Therefore, the balance 

sheet as of 31 December 2016 is not required to be presented. 
 

- In Note 15 of consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2017, in the movement table of 

investment properties, the amount of TL 14,662 thousand in “additions” column has been transferred to 

“transfers” column. In the consolidated statement of cash flows, classifications are made for investment 

properties and inventories. 
 

2.4 New and revised Turkish Accounting Standards 
 

The accounting policies of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been 

applied consistently to those used in the prior year except for the new and amended IFRS standards and TFRYK 

interpretations as of 1 January 2018. 
 

a) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards as of 31 December 2018: 
 

- TFRS 9, “Financial instruments”; effective from annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2018. This standard replaces the guidance in TMS 39. It includes requirements on the 

classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities; it also includes an expected credit losses 

model that replaces the current incurred loss impairment model. 
 

- TFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers”; effective from annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2018. TFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ is a converged standard from 

the IASB and FASB on revenue recognition. The standard will improve the financial reporting of revenue 

and improve comparability of the top line in financial statements globally. The amendments will not have 

significant effect on the notes to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 

2.4 New and revised Turkish Accounting Standards (continued) 

 

a) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards as of 31 December 2018 

(continued): 

 

- Ammendment to TFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers”; effective from annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018. These amendments comprise clarifications of the guidance on 

identifying performance obligations, accounting for licences of intellectual property and the principal 

versus agent assessment (gross versus net revenue presentation). New and amended illustrative examples 

have been added for each of those areas of guidance. The IASB has also included additional practical 

expedients related to transition to the new revenue standard. The amendments did not have significant 

effect on the notes to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

- Ammendments to TFRS 4, “Insurance contracts”; regarding the implementation of IFRS 9, ‘Financial 

Instruments’; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. These amendments 

introduce two approaches: an overlay approach and a deferral approach. The amended standard will 
  

 give all companies that issue insurance contracts the option to recognise in other comprehensive income, 

rather than profit or loss, the volatility that could arise when IFRS 9 is applied before the new insurance 

contracts standard is issued; and  

 give companies whose activities are predominantly connected with insurance an optional temporary 

exemption from applying IFRS 9 until 2021. The entities that defer the application of IFRS 9 will 

continue to apply the existing financial instruments standard IAS 39. The amendments did not have 

significant effect on the notes to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

- Amendments to TAS 40, “Investment properties”; Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2018. These amendments to the classification of investment properties clarify the classifications 

made from investment properties or real estate in case of a change in the purpose of use. If the use of a 

real estate changes, it is necessary to evaluate whether this real estate meets the definitions of up 

investment real estate uy. This change should be supported by evidence. The amendments did not have an 

impact on the financial position or performance of the Group. 

 

- Amendments to TFRS 2, “Share based payments”; on clarifying how to account for certain types of 

share-based payment transactions; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

This amendment clarifies the measurement basis for cash-settled, share-based payments and the 

accounting for modifications that change an award from cash-settled to equity-settled. It also introduces 

an exception to the principles in IFRS 2 that will require an award to be treated as if it was wholly equity-

settled, where an employer is obliged to withhold an amount for the employee’s tax obligation associated 

with a share-based payment and pay that amount to the tax authority. The amendments did not have 

significant effect on the notes to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

Annual improvements 2014 - 2016; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

 

 TFRS 1, ‘First time adoption of TFRS’, regarding the deletion of short-term exemptions for first-time 

adopters regarding TFRS 7, TAS 19 and TFRS 10, 

 TAS 28, ‘Investments in associates and joint venture’ regarding measuring an associate or joint venture at 

fair value, 

 

These improvements are not expected to have a significant impact on the financial position and performance of 

the Company. 
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.4 New and revised Turkish Accounting Standards (continued) 

 

a) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards as of 31 December 2018 

(continued): 

 

- IFRIC 22, “Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration”; effective from annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018. This IFRIC addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of 

transactions where there is consideration that is denominated or priced in a foreign currency. The 

interpretation provides guidance for when a single payment / receipt is made as well as for situations 

where multiple payments/receipts are made. The guidance aims to reduce diversity in practice. The 

amendments did not have significant effect on the notes to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

b) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued as of 31 December 2018 that are not yet 

effective: 
 

- Amendment to TFRS 9, “Financial instruments”; effective from annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2019. This amendment confirm that when a financial liability measured at amortised cost is 

modified without this resulting in de-recognition, a gain or loss should be recognised immediately in 

profit or loss. The gain or loss is calculated as the difference between the original contractual cash flows 

and the modified cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. This means that the 

difference cannot be spread over the remaining life of the instrument which may be a change in practice 

from IAS 39.   

 

- Amendment to TAS 28, “Investments in associates and joint venture”; effective from annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2019. These amendments clarify that companies account for long-term 

interests in associate or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied using TFRS 9.  

 

- TFRS 16, “Leases”; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier 

application permitted if TFRS 15‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ is also applied. This standard 

replaces the current guidance in TAS 17 and is a far reaching change in accounting by lessees in 

particular. Under TAS 17, lessees were required to make a distinction between a finance lease (on balance 

sheet) and an operating lease (off balance sheet). TFRS 16 now requires lessees to recognise a lease 

liability reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right of use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. The 

IASB has included an optional exemption for certain short-term leases and leases of low-value assets; 

however, this exemption can only be applied by lessees. For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. 

However, as the IASB has updated the guidance on the definition of a lease (as well as the guidance on 

the combination and separation of contracts), lessors will also be affected by the new standard. At the 

very least, the new accounting model for lessees is expected to impact negotiations between lessors and 

lessees. Under TFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the 

use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

 

- IFRIC 23, “Uncertainty over income tax tratments”; effective from annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019. This IFRIC clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of TAS 12 

‘Income taxes’, are applied where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The TFRS IC had 

clarified previously that TAS 12, not TAS 37 ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’, 

applies to accounting for uncertain income tax treatments. IFRIC 23 explains how to recognise and 

measure deferred and current income tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax 

treatment.  
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NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

2.4 New and revised Turkish Accounting Standards (continued) 

 

b) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued as of 31 December 2018 that are not yet effective 

(continued): 
 

An uncertain tax treatment is any tax treatment applied by an entity where there is uncertainty over 

whether that treatment will be accepted by the tax authority. For example, a decision to claim a deduction 

for a specific expense or not to include a specific item of income in a tax return is an uncertain tax 

treatment if its acceptability is uncertain under tax law. IFRIC 23 applies to all aspects of income tax 

accounting where there is an uncertainty regarding the treatment of an item, including taxable profit or 

loss, the tax bases of assets and liabilities, tax losses and credits and tax rates. 
 

- TFRS 17, “Insurance contracts”; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. 

This standard replaces TFRS 4, which currently permits a wide variety of practices in accounting for 

insurance contracts. TFRS 17 will fundamentally change the accounting by all entities that issue insurance 

contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features.  
 

Annual improvements 2015 - 2017; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. These 

amendments include minor changes to: 

 

 TFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’, - a company remeasures its previously held interest in a joint operation 

when it obtains control of the business. 

 TFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’, - a company does not remeasure its previously held interest in a joint 

operation when it obtains joint control of the business. 

 TAS 12, ‘Income taxes’ - a company accounts for all income tax consequences of dividend payments in 

the same way. 

 TAS 23, ‘Borrowing costs’ - a company treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing originally 

made to develop an asset when the asset is ready for its intended use or sale. 
 

Ammenments to TAS 19 “Employee benefits”, on plan amendment, curtailment or settlement; effective 

from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. These amendments require an entity to: 

 

 Use updated assumptions to determine current service cost and net interest for the reminder of the period 

after a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement; and  

 Recognise in profit or loss as part of past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, any reduction in a 

surplus, even if that surplus was not previously recognised because of the impact of the asset ceiling, 

 

Amendments to TAS 1 and TAS 8 on the definition of material; effective from Annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2020. These amendments to TAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’,and TAS 8, 

‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’, and consequential amendments to other 

IFRSs: 

 

i) use a consistent definition of materiality throughout TFRS and the Conceptual Framework for Financial 

Reporting; 

ii) clarify the explanation of the definition of material; and 

iii) incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial information. 
 

Amendments to IFRS 3 - definition of a business; effective from Annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2020. This amendment revises the definition of a business. According to feedback received by the IASB, 

application of the current guidance is commonly thought to be too complex, and it results in too many 

transactions qualifying as business combinations. 

 

These standards, changes and improvements are assessed on the financial position of the Group and its possible 

impact on performance. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Except for the consolidation principles explained in Note 2.1, the significant accounting policies applied in the 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements are summarized below: 

 

3.1 Cash and cash equivalents and statement of cash flows 

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank deposits and short-term investments, which can easily be 

converted into cash for a known amount, and which have high liquidity and insignificant conversion risk with 

maturities of three months or less (Note 6). Cash flow statements as an integral part of other financial statements are 

prepared to inform financial statement users about changes in group net assets, financial structure and capability to 

direct the amount and timing of cash flows in accordance with changing conditions. 

 

3.2 Trade receivables and provision for doubtful receivables 

 

Trade receivables that are originated by the Group by way of providing goods or services directly to a debtor are 

carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short-term trade receivables with no stated interest 

rate are measured at original invoice amount unless the effect of imputing interest is significant (Note 10). 

 

A credit risk provision for trade receivables is established if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 

able to collect all amounts due. The amount of the provision is the difference between the recorded value of the 

receipt and the possible amount of receivable. The recoverable amount, being the present value of all cash flows, 

including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the original effective interest 

rate of the originated receivables at inception. 

 

If the amount of the impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring after the write-down, the 

release of the provision is credited to other operating income. 

 

3.3 Deferred finance income / expenses 

 

Credit finance income / expenses represent imputed finance income / expenses on credit sales and purchases. 

Such income / expenses are calculated over the period of credit sales and purchases by the effective interest rate 

method and included under other operating income and expenses. 

 

3.4 Related parties 

 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements (Note 9). 

 

a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person: 

 

i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity; 

ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or  

iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the 

reporting entity. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.4 Related parties (continued) 

 

b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies: 

 

i) The entity and the company are members of the same group (each parent, subsidiary and fellow 

subsidiary is associated with others).  

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 

member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 

iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity. 

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting 

entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the 

sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity.  

vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).  

vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 

 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties, regardless of 

whether a price is charged. 

 

3.5 Inventories 

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of 

fixed and variable general production expenses, are assigned to inventories held by the method most appropriate 

to the particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a weighted average out basis. Net 

realizable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary 

to make a sale. When the net realizable value of inventory is less than cost, inventory is written down to net 

realizable value and expense is included in statement of income / (loss) in the period in which the write-down or 

loss occurred. When circumstances that previously caused inventories discounted to net realizable value no 

longer exist or when there is clear evidence of an increase in net realizable value because of the changes in 

economic circumstances, the amount of the write-down is reversed. The reversal amount is limited to the amount 

of the initial write-down (Note 12). 

 

3.6 Financial assets 

 

As of 31 December 2017, the Group has accounted its financial investments in accordance with TAS 39 and has 

reclassified TAS 39 to TFRS 9 as of 1 January 2018. The impact of policy changes is explained in detail in  

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments note (Note 2.2.2). 

 

The fair value of available-for-sale financial assets arising from the ownership of publicly traded companies is 

calculated on the stock market raider. If the financial asset is not traded in an active market, the Group 

establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques include discounted cash flow 

analyzes that take into account current market conditions or substantially similar other investment instruments 

and taking into account the specific conditions of the company invested in (Note 7). 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.7 Investment properties 

 

Buildings and land held to earn rent or for capital appreciation or both rather than for use in the production or 

supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes or sale in the ordinary course of business are classified as 

investment property (Note 15). Investment properties are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Investment 

properties (except land) are depreciated on a straight-line basis. 

 

In the Kanyon complex, different useful lives are assigned for each part of the complex (includes building, lift, 

escalator, parking lot equipment’s, heat and cooling system and many other property, plant and equipment) and 

each part of the complex is depreciated separately. 

 

The depreciation periods for investment properties, which approximate the useful lives of the Kanyon complex 

concerned, are as follows: 

 

Buildings 50 years 

Machinery, plant and equipment 4-15 years 

Furniture and fixtures 4-15 years 

 

Investment properties are reviewed for possible impairment losses and when the carrying amount of the investment 

property is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount. The 

recoverable amount of the investment property is the higher of the asset’s net selling price or value in use. 

 

3.8 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation 

 

Property, plant and equipment acquired prior to 31 December 2004 are carried at acquisition costs adjusted for 

inflation; whereas those purchased after 2004 are carried at acquisition costs less accumulated depreciation. 

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets  

(Note 16). 

 

The depreciation periods for property, plant and equipment, which approximate the useful lives of assets 

concerned, are as follows: 

 

Land improvements 5 - 50 years 

Buildings 10 - 50 years 

Machinery, plant and equipment 3 - 20 years 

Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years 

Furniture and fixtures 3 - 20 years 

Leasehold improvements 5 - 10 years 

Other tangible assets 2 - 20 years 

 

Land is not depreciated due to having infinite useful life. 

 

Gains or losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment determined by comparing proceeds with carrying 

amounts are included in the related income and expense accounts, as appropriate. 

 

Where the carrying amount of the asset is greater than its recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its 

recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recorded in the income statement. 

 

The normal maintenance and repair costs incurred in the tangible asset are accounted as expense. Expenditure on 

property, which increases the future utility of the asset by expanding the capacity of the tangible asset, is added to 

the cost of the property, plant and equipment. 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

27 

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.9 Intangible assets and amortisation 
 

Intangible assets comprise acquired computer software, intellectual property, capitalised development costs and 

other identifiable rights. These are recorded at their acquisition costs and amortised using the straight-line method 

over their estimated useful lives for a period not exceeding 5 years from the date of acquisition. When the carrying 

amount of any intangible asset is greater than its recoverable amount, it is immediately written down to its 

recoverable amount (Note 17). 

 

3.10 Taxes 

 

Tax provision for the period consists of current year tax and deferred tax provisions. Current year tax liability 

includes tax liability calculated over taxable income for the period with the tax rate at the balance sheet date and 

corrections on tax liabilities of previous periods. 

 

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising between the tax base of 

assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. Currently enacted tax rates are 

used to determine deferred taxes at the balance sheet date. 

 

The principal temporary differences result from carried forward tax losses, provision for employment 

termination benefits, the differences between the tax base and the carrying amounts of property, plant and 

equipment, investment properties, inventories and available-for-sale financial assets, deferred finance income 

and expenses on credit sales and purchases. 

 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, whereas deferred tax assets resulting 

from deductible temporary differences are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 

will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised (Note 28). 

 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, related to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority, are 

offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 

 

3.11 Financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities are recognized initially at proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. In subsequent 

periods, financial liabilities are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any difference 

between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statements of 

income over the period of the financial liabilities (Note 8). 

 

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has the unconditional right to defer the 

corresponding payment for 12 months since balance sheet date. 

 

3.12 Leases 

 

Finance leases 

 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group substantially assumes all the risks and rewards of 

ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are included in the property, plant and equipment at the 

inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum 

lease payments.Financing costs arising from leases are spreading throughout the lease period, creating a constant 

interest rate throughout the lease term. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are 

depreciated over the useful life of the asset. An impairment loss is recognized when a decrease in the carrying 

amount of the leased property is identified. Interest expenses and foreign exchange losses related to the finance 

lease liabilities are accounted in the income statement. Lease payments are deducted from finance lease 

liabilities. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.12 Leases (continued) 

 

Operational leases 

 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 

classified as operational leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 

lessor) are charged to the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

 

There is no legal decision regarding the renewals in operational leasing contracts or escalation of buying options. 

 

In operating leases, leased assets are classified under property, plant and equipment in the consolidated statement 

of financial position. The rental income is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-

line basis over the lease term. 

 

3.13 Employment termination benefits 

 

Provision for employment termination benefits is provided as a requirement of Turkish Labour Law to each 

employee who has completed one year of service and retires, whose employment is terminated without due 

cause, who is called up for military service, or who dies; and represents the present value of the estimated total 

reserve of the future probable obligation of the Group (Note 19). 

 

3.14 Foreign currency transactions 

 

Foreign currency transactions during the year have been translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 

the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange 

rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation of monetary 

assets and liabilities are reflected in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 25). 

 

Assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are expressed in TL using the exchange rates prevailing at 

the financial statement date on the consolidated financial statements.Income and expense items are translated at the 

average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case 

the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as 

equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss 

in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of. 

 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 

 

3.15 Revenue recognition 

 

Revenue recognition is explained in detail in, TFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” standard note 

(Note: 2.2.1).  

 

Rent and royalty income earned by the Group are recognized on an accrual basis. Interest income is recognized 

using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized when the right to collect the dividend is 

established. 

 

3.16 Share capital and dividends 

 

Ordinary shares are classified as capital. Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognized as an 

appropriation of the profit in the period in which they are declared. 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.17 Borrowing costs 

 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, one 

that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of 

that asset in the period in which the asset is prepared for its intended use or sale. Borrowing costs that are not in this 

scope are recognized directly in the income statement (Note 27). 

 

3.18 Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities 

 

Provisions are recognized at the present value of the obligation when the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that on outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation, and of the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. 

 

Possible assets or obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company 

are not included in financial statements and treated as contingent assets or liabilities (Note 18). 

 

3.19 Government grants 

 

Investment incentives can only be utilised when the Group’s application for incentives is approved by the related 

authorities. 

 

3.20 Segment reporting 

 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the reporting provided to the chief operating 

decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 

performance of the operating segments. The category “Undistributed” generally consists of assets like cash and 

cash equivalents, financial investments, which are attributable to the parent and utilizable for all segments, and 

assets and liabilities of the other sectors, which do not meet the required quantitative thresholds to be a reportable 

segment. 

 

For an operating segment to be identified as a reportable segment, its reported revenue, including both sales to 

external customers and intersegment sales or transfers, is 10% or more of the combined revenue, internal and 

external, of all operating segments; the absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10% or more of the 

combined profit or loss or its assets are 10% or more of the combined assets of all operating segments. Operating 

segments that do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds may be considered reportable, and separately 

disclosed, if the management believes that information regarding the segment would be useful to users of the 

financial statements (Note 5). 

 

3.21 Earnings per share 

 

Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated statements of income are determined by dividing net profit for 

the period by the weighted average number of shares that have been outstanding during the period. In Turkey, 

companies can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares (“bonus shares”) to 

existing shareholders from retained earnings. For the purpose of earnings per share computations, such bonus 

shares are regarded as issued shares. Accordingly, when calculating the weighted average number of shares to be 

used in earnings per share computations, the retroactive effect of such bonus shares is taken into consideration 

for comparative purposes (Note 29). 
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NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

3.22 Events after the balance sheet date 

 

Events after the balance sheet date represent events that have occurred in favour or in opposition of the Group 

between the balance sheet date and the date financial statements were approved. The Group adjusts the 

consolidated financial statements when there is evidence of events existing at or after the balance sheet date that 

necessitate the adjusting of the consolidated financial statements. If events after the balance sheet date do not 

necessitate the adjusting of the consolidated financial statements, the Group explains the events in a 

corresponding note to the consolidated financial statements. 

 

3.23 Derivative financial instruments 

 

Derivatives, primarily options and foreign currency forward contracts, are initially recognized at acquisition cost 

including the transaction fees on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured 

at their fair value. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined based on the comparison of 

the original forward rate with the forward rate calculated in reference to the market interest rates of the related 

currency for the remaining period of the contract. All derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is 

positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivatives at fair value 

through profit or loss are included in the consolidated income statement (Note 27). 

 

3.24 Impairment of assets 

 

The Group reviews assets, except goodwill, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by 

which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount in the consolidated statements of income. The 

recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of 

assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 

flows (cash generating units). Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated income statements (Note 25). 

 

3.25 Management’s estimates 

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions regarding the amounts 

for the assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date, explanations for the contingent assets and liabilities as well 

as the amounts of income and expenses realised in the reporting period. Although these estimates and 

assumptions are based on the best information held by the Group management, actual results may differ from 

these. 

 

In the next financial reporting period, the predictions and assumptions likely to cause significant adjustments on the 

recorded values on the assets and liabilities are stated below: 

 

Fair values of the available for sale financial assets 

 

The Group estimates the fair values of financial assets which are not traded in an active market by referencing to 

similar undisputed transactions, fair values of similar financial instruments and using discounted cash flow analysis. 

As a result, the estimates used in the analysis, may not be indicative for the value that the Group may obtain in a 

current market transaction and actual values may significantly deviate from those estimates (Notes 3.6 and 7). 
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NOTE 4 - SHARES IN OTHER COMPANIES 

 

Shares in associates and joint ventures 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

Associates 

Vitra Karo - - 

Ekom 30,432 25,868 

ESH - - 

Eczacıbaşı Shire 54,913 44,903 
 

Joint Ventures 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol - - 

EBX 38,528 31,049 
 

 123,873 101,820 

 

Cumulative share of loss of an associate that not included in consolidated financiat statements 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Vitra Karo (152,460) (114,829) 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (22,054) (32,202) 

ESH 74 (3,970) 

 

 (174,440) (151,001) 

 

Short term liabilities due to investment accounted for using the equity method 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Capital commitments to associates (*) - 52,500 

 

 - 52,500 

 

(*) Capital commitments to associates consist of the unpaid portion of the Company's share of the capital increase of 

Vitra Karo (TL 17,813 thousand) and Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (TL 34,687 thousand). As of 31 December 2018, the related 

amounts have been fully paid. 
 

The movement of the shares of associates and joint ventures during the period is as follows: 
 

 2018 2017 
 

As of 1 January 101,820 83,693 

The Group’s share in the profits of investments accounted 

   for using equity method 21,331 12,299 

Capital payments 16,326 75,623 

Differences from actuarial gain / (loss) 8 - 

Fair value changes of equity-based financial investments 3,497 7,559 

Dividends paid / accrued (2,783) (1,731) 

Capital payments to impaired joint ventures (*) (16,326) (75,623) 
 

As of 31 December 123,873 101,820 

 

(*) As of 31 December 2018, the total amount is the payment of the capital increase for ESH and the amount is 

considered as loss in the income statement (As of 31 December 2017, the amount consist of the capital commitments 

to associates are composed of Vitra Karo and Eczacıbaşı-Monrol's unpaid portion of the Company's share of the capital 

increase. The total amount That amount is considered as a loss in the income statement). 
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NOTE 4 - SHARES IN OTHER COMPANIES (Continued) 
 

Assets and liabilities of the Group's investments accounted for by the equity method as of 31 December 2018 and 

31 December 2017 and net sales for the years ended 31 December are as follows: 

 
  31 December 2018  

    Net Total 

  Goodwill  profit / (loss) proportion of 

  attributable to  for the ownership 

 Assets Liabilities equity holders Net sales period interests (%) 

 

Ekom 2,736,053 2,620,616 - 19,742 3,841 26.36 

Vitra Karo (*) 1,442,721 2,052,562 - 1,329,737 (37,435) 25.00 

ESH (*) 4,769 4,605 - 28,897 (5,549) 45.31 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (*) 206,098 232,356 - 135,524 (26,747) 84.00 

EBX 79,469 2,406 - - 7,481 50.00 

Eczacıbaşı Shire 218,162 108,337 - 388,959 10,009 50.00 

       

     (48,400)  

 
  31 December 2017  

    Net Total 

  Goodwill  profit / (loss) proportion of 

  attributable to  for the ownership 

 Assets Liabilities equity holders Net sales period interests (%) 

 

Ekom 2,275,323 2,177,186 - 13,665 3,059 26.36 

Vitra Karo (*) 1,168,981 1,628,297 - 556,623 (18,338) 25.00 

ESH (*) 10,346 19,107 - 21,106 (2,163) 45.31 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol (*) 324,935 363,271 - 85,922 (4,010) 84.00 

EBX 64,140 2,042 - - 2,411 50.00 

Eczacıbaşı Shire 209,329 119,524 - 305,394 6,829 50.00 

  

     (12,212)  

 

(*) Net period losses related to the Group's investments accounted for using the equity method are not reflected in the 

consolidated financial statements due to impairment. 

 

The Group's share of net profit from investments accounted for using the equity method for the period ended  

31 December is as follows: 
 

 2018 2017 
 

Ekom 3,841 3,059 

EBX 7,481 2,411 

Eczacıbaşı Shire 10,009 6,829 
 

 21,331 12,299 
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NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING 

 

The Group determined its operating segments based upon the reports reviewed and used by the Board of 

Directors while giving strategic decisions. 

 

During evaluations made for the requirements of TFRS 8 “Operating Segments” effective as of 1 January 2009, 

the Group decided that operating segments shown below in the disclosures prepared in line with CMB 

requirements are compatible with the reports presented to Decision Making Authorities related to current 

operations and that there is no new reportable segment. 

 

The Group continues to operate primarily in two reportable segments as of 31 December 2018  

(31 December 2017: 2 segments). 

 

1. Health: 
 

Production and sale of human health and veterinary medicine. 

 

2. Real estate development: 
 

Kanyon 

 

The sale and lease of the real estate constructed with a 50% - 50% partnership with İş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 

Ortaklığı A.Ş. (“İŞ GYO”) located on Büyükdere Caddesi, in the Şişli district of Istanbul. The lease regards to 

half of the shopping mall and whole of the office building. 

 

Ormanada 

 

The Company acquired 50% and Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. acquired 50% of the 22 pieces of land with a total area 

of 196,409.74 m² in Yorgancı Çiftliği Mevkii, Uskumru Mahallesi, Sarıyer district in Istanbul. The size of 

houses varies between 170 and 700 square meters with sales price range from TL 7.2 million to TL 10.4 million 

in Ormanada. 

 

Ayazağa facilities 

 

Lease is related to serum facilities located in Ayazağa, Sarıyer district of Istanbul. 

 

Lands 

 

In addition to the aforementioned lands of Ayazağa facilities, in 2015, the Company acquired all the shares of 

Yeni Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş. who owns a land plot in Ayazağa Cendere Valley, Urban Transformation Area as well 

as merged with it by facilitated merging transaction method on 7 December 2015. 

 

The summary table of the Company’s other investments in real estate is as follows; 

  

Purchase date Location Parcel Surface area (m²) Purchasing cost 
 

29 June 2015 Silivri 21 plantation  265,930 16,425 

1 December 2015 Silivri No. 308  8,500 765 

1 March 2016 Silivri No. 1985  5,250 484 

7 June 2016 Silivri No. 2007  685,026 67,995 
 

   964,706 85,669 
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NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 

 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul 

 

Providing consulting services regarding land development and project management to Eczacıbaşı Group 

companies which are operating in real estate development sector. 

 

Undistributed: 

 

Segment assets consist of cash and cash equivalents (except the cash and cash equivalents of the parent 

company), trade and other receivables, inventories, tangible and intangible assets and other current and non-

current assets. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets available for sale and deferred 

tax assets are excluded from segment assets. 

 

Segment liabilities consist of liabilities related to operations. Current and deferred tax liabilities, financial 

liabilities and financial liabilities provided by related parties are excluded from segment liabilities. 

 

Capital expenditures consist of purchases of tangible and intangible assets, investment property and goodwill 

arisen as a result of acquisitions in the current year. 

 

Financial information has not been reported in geographical segments since primary sales and purchases of the 

Group are performed in Turkey and the majority of the assets of the Group are in Turkey. 

 

Segment assets and liabilities as of 31 December: 

 

  31 December 2018   31 December 2017  

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 
 

Health 308,961 (278,011) 225,656 (154,088) 

Real estate development 390,008 (29,203) 411,252 (9,194) 

Undistributed 3,757,503 (151,414) 3,194,467 (187,438) 
 

Total 4,456,472 (458,628) 3,831,375 (350,720) 

 

Capital expenditures and non-cash expenses of segments as of 31 December: 

 

  Real estate  

1 January 2018 - 31 December 2018 Health development Undistributed Total 

 

Capital expenditures (Notes 15, 16 ve 17) 7,847 9,098 - 16,945 

 

Non-cash expenses: 
- Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 15, 16 ve 17) 4,079 6,264 - 10,343 

- Provision for diminution in value  

    of inventories (Note 12) 1,459 - - 1,459 

- Provision for employment termination benefits 

   and actuarial gain / loss (Note 19) 2,471 89 118 2,678 

- Provision for accrued vacation (Note 19) 449 47 32 528 

- Provision for litigations (Note 18)  559 - - 559 

- Provisions for doubtful receivables (Note 10) 1,133 - 4 1,137 

- Expense accruals (Note 10) 703 - 15 718 
 

 10,853 6,400 169 17,422 
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NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 

 

Capital expenditures and non-cash expenses of segments as of 31 December (continued): 

 

  Real estate  

1 January 2017 - 31 December 2017 Health development Undistributed Total 
 

Capital expenditures (Notes 15, 16 ve 17) 6,083 1,854 - 7,937 

 

Non-cash expenses: 
- Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 15, 16 ve 17) 4,245 6,088 - 10,333 
- Provision for diminution in value 
    of inventories (Note 12) 1,728 - - 1,728 
- Provision for employment termination benefits 

   and actuarial gain / loss (Note 19) - 115 - 115 
- Provision for accrued vacation (Note 19) 805 156 - 961 
- Provision for litigations (Note 18)  36 314 - 350 
- Provisions for doubtful receivables (Note 10) 159 - - 159 
- Expense accruals (Note 10) 936 7 - 943 
 

 7,909 6,680 - 14,589 

 
  Real estate   

1 January 2018 - 31 December 2018 Health development Undistributed Total 
 

Total sales 553,458 141,080 - 694,538 
Elimination of sales within the Group (-) - (2,444) - (2,444) 
 

Sales to third parties 553,458 138,636 - 692,094 
Cost of sales (-) (418,362) (29,330) - (447,692) 
 

Gross profit 135,096 109,306 - 244,402 
 

General administrative expenses (-) (43,549) (13,249) (5,894) (62,692) 
Marketing expenses (-) (114,876) (13,789) - (128,665) 
Other operating income 32,529 502 334,999 368,030 
Other operating expenses (-) (46,251) (311) (166,150) (212,712) 
 

Operating (loss) / profit (37,051) 82,459 162,955 208,363 

 
  Real estate   

1 January 2017 - 31 December 2017 Health development Undistributed Total 
 

Total sales 468,793 130,579 - 599,372 
Elimination of sales within the Group (-) - (1,463) - (1,463) 
 

Sales to third parties 468,793 129,116 - 597,909 
Cost of sales (-) (327,490) (35,986) - (363,476) 
 

Gross profit 141,303 93,130 - 234,433 
 

General administrative expenses (-) (43,079) (13,355) (5,640) (62,074) 
Marketing expenses (-) (102,647) (12,818) - (115,465) 
Other operating income 23,575 687 172,752 197,014 
Other operating expenses (-) (24,835) (358) (99,656) (124,849) 
 

Operating (loss) / profit (5,683) 67,286 67,456 129,059 
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NOTE 5 - SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
 
Reconciliation of operating profits related to operating segments with profit before tax: 
 

 1 January - 1 January - 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Operating profits related to operating segments 45,408 61,603 
 

Non-distributed income 162,955 67,456 

Income from investing activities 72,599 146,705 

Expenses from investing activities (-) (4) (174) 

Shares from participation losses (-) 5,006 (115,824) 

Financial income 26,999 17,087 

Financial expenses (-) (17,712) (5,976) 
 

Profit before tax 295,251 170,877 

 
 
NOTE 6 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Cash in hand 14 11 
Banks 619,885 506,408 
- Demand deposits 3,101 1,513 
- Time deposits 616,784 504,895 
 

 619,899 506,419 

 
The annual interest rates applied to the Turkish Lira denominated time deposits range between 23.90% and 24% 
(31 December 2017: 15.05% and 15.50%), and the maturity date is between 2 January 2019 and 18 January 2019. 
The maturity dates for foreign currency time deposits are between 2.05% and 5.50% (31 December 2017: 1.75% to 
4.20%), and between 2 January 2019 and 25 January 2019. The weighted annual interest rates of TL, USD and Euro 
denominated bank deposits are 23.92%, 5.20% and 2.31% respectively. (31 December 2017: 15.20%, 4% and 
1.90%). 
 
The details of the Group's time deposits as of 31 December are as follows: 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
TL denominated time deposits 62,700 100,093 
TL Equivalent of USD denominated time deposits 190,984 208,258 
TL Equivalent of EUR denominated time deposits 363,100 196,544 
 

 616,784 504,895 

 
Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the periods ended  
31 December are presented below: 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 619,899 506,419 
Interest accruals (-) (1,328) (1,168) 
 

 618,571 505,251 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 

The details of financial investments included in current assets as of 31 December are as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,146 354 
 

Financial investments, current 1,146 354 

 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,019,743 2,588,218 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 3,392 3,185 
 

Financial investments, non-current 3,023,135 2,591,403 

 

TFRS 13 defines the classifications of valuation techniques. 

 

The classification of financial instruments at fair value is shown as following: 

 

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); 

 

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
According to the observability of the data used in fair value measurement, the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s 
financial assets at fair value is shown as follows: 

 

31 December 2018  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 1,146 - 1,146 
 

Financial investments, current - 1,146 - 1,146 

 

Financial assets at fair value through 

   other comprehensive income 30,874 1,199,933 1,788,936 3,019,743 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 3,392 - 3,392 
 

Financial investments, non-current 30,874 1,203,325 1,788,936 3,023,135 

 

 

31 December 2017  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 354 - 354 
 

Financial investments, current - 354 - 354 

 

Financial assets at fair value through 

   other comprehensive income 29,221 1,068,367 1,490,630 2,588,218 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - 3,185 - 3,185 
 

Financial investments, non-current 29,221 1,071,552 1,490,630 2,591,403 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

Reconciliation of period beginning and period end for the assets measured at fair value based on 3rd level is as 

follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 

As of 1 January 1,490,631 945,838 

Total income / (loss) accounted in other comprehensive income 287,070 554,313 

Disposals for the period (-) - (1,554) 

Effect of share purchases and rate changes 11,235 (7,966) 
 

As of 31 December 1,788,936 1,490,631 

 

a) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

 

Financial assets at fair value related to income statements portfolio consist of international financial investment 

instruments and national liquid funds. 

 

The Company management has decided to transfer the assets in portfolio accounts considering their maturities 

and liquidity, to banks in Turkey in the second half of 2008. As of 31 December 2009, a significant portion of the 

funds have been transferred to banks in Turkey and transfer of remaining part of the funds is in progress. Total 

fair value of funds not yet transferred is TL 4,538 thousand as of 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: TL 

3,539 thousand). As of 31 December 2018, Group estimates to transfer TL 1,146 thousand (31 December 2017: 

TL 354 thousand) of these funds within one year and the remaining TL 3,392 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 

3,185 thousand) in long term. TL 4,538 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 3,539 thousand) of the aforementioned 

funds are in the funds in North America. 

 

b) Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income 

 

Long-term financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income 

 

The list of long-term financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income as of 31 December are as 

follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 

As of 1 January 2,588,218 2,157,822 

Total income / (loss) accounted in other comprehensive income 431,525 434,556 

Disposals during the period - (4,160) 
 

As of 31 December 3,019,743 2,588,218 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

b) Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (continued) 

 

The list of long-term financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income as of 31 December is as follows: 

  

 31 December 2018 (%) 31 December 2017 (%) 
 

Publicly traded  
 

Türkiye İş Bankası A.Ş. (*) 93 <1 25 <1 

Ak Enerji Elektrik Üretim A.Ş. (*) (**) - <1 - <1 
 

 93  25  

 

Not publicly traded 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. (*****) 3,017,850 37 2,587,399 37 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (****) 1,774 14 768 14 

Other (***) 26 <1 26 <1 
 

 3,019,650  2,588,193  
 

 3,019,743  2,588,218  

 

(*) Fair values of financial assets in listed companies are calculated based on current market prices.  

 

(**) As of 31 December 2018, the market price of Ak Enerji Elektrik Üretim A.Ş. is TL 63 (31 December 

2017: TL 92). 

 

(***)     These financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are carried at their acquisition 

costs since they are not listed and fair values cannot be reliably measured. 

 

(****) For financial assets in unlisted companies, the Group determines fair values using valuation 

techniques. These valuation techniques include the use of recent arm’s length transactions or 

references to other instruments that are substantially the same and discounted cash flow analysis 

considering the specific conditions of the company invested in. Adjustments to fair values are 

accounted for in “Financial assets fair value reserve” under shareholders’ equity. 

 

(*****) As of 31 December 2018 and 2017 the acquisition cost of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. shares including 

the restatement effect due to inflation accounting is TL 153,320 thousand. In fair value determination 

(Fair Value Measurement Methods (I); 

 

i) Rent income; discounted cash flows (Level 3), 

ii) Real estates; current transaction cost, arm’s length price and expertise values (Level 2 and 3), 

iii) Net asset values of remaining assets and liabilities in cash (Level 3), 

iv) Net asset values of remaining assets and liabilities in cash (Level 3), 

iv) The multiplication of ownership interest rates of Eczacıbaşı Holding with the fair values of all 

subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.  
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

b) Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (continued) 

 

The methods used in fair value measurement of Eczacıbaşı Holding are as follows: 

 

Fair Value Measurement Methods Code 
 

Market price (II) 

Discounted cash flows (III) 

Net asset value (IV) 

Net book value (V) 

 
 Proportion of Fair value   

 power held by measurement  

 Eczacıbaşı Holding (%) (**) method  
 

Name 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 100.00 100.00 (I) (I) (I) (I) 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 74.82 73.48 (I) (I) (I) (I) 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malz. Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 77.38 77.81 (II) (II) Level 1 Level 1 

Eczacıbaşı Yapı Gereçleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 98.10 96.47 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Esan Eczacıbaşı Endüstriyel Hammaddeler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 99.69 99.69 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Vitra Karo San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 92.79 92.45 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 100.00 100.00 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. 74.82 73.48 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Kaynak Tekniği San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 46.62 46.04 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

E-Kart Elektronik Kart Sistemleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 44.23 43.09 (III) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Shire Sağlık Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.  37.41 36.74 (IV) (III) Level 3 Level 3 

ESİ Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş. 4.92 4.92 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Havacılık A.Ş. 91.33 91.33 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 88.48 87.88 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Yatırım A.Ş. 74.92 73.60 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç Ticaret A.Ş. 74.83 73.50 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş. 81.57 77.92 (V) (V) Level 2 Level 2 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 50.00 50.00 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Toplu Konut Holding A.Ş. 27.00 27.00 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 89.73 89.38 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 62.85 61.73 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Villeroy & Boch Fliesen GmbH 90.66 90.34 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ür. San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 37.41 36.74 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim San. ve Tic. A.Ş. 96.59 96.41 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Vitra Plitka 92.79 92.23 (V) (V) Level 3 Level 3 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (*) - 40.40 - (IV) - Level 2 
 

(*) As of 9 April 2018, the Company has been sold. 

 

(**) Proportion of ownership interest represents the effective shareholding of Eczacıbaşı Holding directly through the shares 

held in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and indirectly by these companies. 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 

b) Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (continued) 

 

(I) In the fair value measurement of Eczacıbaşı Holding, for the stand-alone fair value of EİS Eczacıbaşı 

İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., the effect of the cross ownership with 

Eczacıbaşı Holding has been taken into consideration. The following have been taken into account in 

the related stand-alone fair value determination: 

 

i) Kanyon Shopping Mall and Office Building; discounted cash flows of rent income (Level 3), 

ii) Financial assets; current transaction cost (Level 2) and current market prices (Level 1),  

iii) Real estates; current transaction cost, imputed cost and expertise values (Level 2 and 3), 

iv) Net asset value of remaining assets in cash (Level 2) and liabilities in cash (Level 3). 

 

In this context, the fair value has been calculated as TL 2,033,183 thousand as of 31 December 2018 (31 

December 2017: TL 1,745,379 thousand). As of 31 December 2018, market / stock value of EİS 

Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. amounts to TL 1,870,060 thousand 

(31 December 2017: TL 3,021,997 thousand). 

 

(II) The securities measured at market values are valued by the strike prices as at 31 December 2018 and 31 

December 2017 on BIST. As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 there are no financial 

instruments listed in another stock exchange market. 

 

(III) The discount rates used in discounted cash-flow method are determined for each entity separately taking 

into consideration the following factors: 

 

i) The countries in which each entity is located and the risk premiums of these countries, 

ii) The market risk premiums for each entity and 

iii) The industry risk premiums for the sectors in which each entity operates 

 

Comparable risk premiums (in line with observable market data) are used in the determination of 

discount rates. 

 

For the calculation of discount rates used for companies valuated with discounted cash flow method cost 

of equity and cost of capital have been evaluated considering to risk free return rate and risk premiums. 

Accordingly weighted average capital cost (WACC) rates are calculated with regards to sustainable debt 

to equity ratios of each industry of related company. As of 31 December 2018 if WACC would be 100 

base point higher / lower, fair value of asset held for sale would be TL 41,701 thousand lower / TL 

300,656 thousand higher. 

 

In this context, the WACCs used in companies with functional currency TL in the baseline scenario 

vary between 20% - 26% (31 December 2017: 16% - 19.2%) while the discount rate used in companies 

with functional currencies in USD is 7.2%. (31 December 2017: 10.1%). 

 

(IV) Current transaction price consists of the financial instruments of which fair values are measured by 

comparable costs of current transactions as of the balance sheet date. 

 

(V,VI) The fair values of these companies are determined by net asset values and net book values. The net asset 

value is calculated by deducting liabilities from monetary assets, whereas net book values are calculated 

by their cost values. 
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NOTE 7 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 

b) Financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income (continued) 
 

The fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding has been calculated by multiplying the proportion of ownership interest of 
Eczacıbaşı Holding with the fair values calculated, using the methods explained above, for each company. The 
calculation summary of the amount shown in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December is as 
follows: 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Total fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding (*) 7,296,298 6,298,677 
The share of the Group within the total 
   fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding (**) 2,720,136 2,348,212 
The effect of cross ownership 1,052,176 886,037 
 

Fair value before miniority discount 3,772,312 3,234,249 
 
Miniority discount (-) (754,462) (646,850) 

 
Fair value of the Group in consolidated financials 3,017,850 2,587,399 
 
(*) Reflects the amount multiplied with the total proportion of ownership interests. 
 
(**) As of 31 December 2018, the Company has been taken into consideration in the share of the Company's shares in 

Eczacıbaşı Holding. 
 

As presented in the table above, the share of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret 
A.Ş. in the fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding before miniority discount amounting to TL 7,296,298 thousand  
(31 December 2017: TL 6,298,677 thousand) has been calculated by using the fair value of Eczacıbaşı Holding 
amounting to TL 2,720,136  thousand (31 December 2017: TL 2,348,212 thousand) by multiplying this fair value 
with EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.’s proportion of ownership interest 
in Eczacıbaşı Holding equalling 37.28% and amounting to 31 December 2018 TL 1,052,176 thousand  
(31 December 2017: TL 886,037 thousand) and adding the effect of cross ownership between EİS Eczacıbaşı 
İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and Eczacıbaşı Holding amounting to TL 3,772,312 
thousand (31 December 2017: TL 3,234,249 thousand). The fair value presented in consolidated financial 
statements amounting to TL 3,017,850 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 2,587,399 thousand) has been 
calculated by deducting the miniority discount at the rate of 20% from this amount. 
 

The effect of a 100 base point change in miniority discount rate on the fair value of the financial instruments 
valued by discounted cash-flow method is calculated as TL 37,723 thousand as of 31 December 2018 (31 
December 2017: TL 31,911 thousand). 
 
 

NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 

  31 December 2018   31 December 2017  

 Effective  Effective  

 interest rate  interest rate  

 per annum (%) (*) TL per annum (%) (*) TL 
 

TL denominated bank borrowings (*) 14.95 - 15.40 35,870 13.85 - 14.95 3,244 

Finance lease payables  32 14 356 
 

Short-term bank borrowings  35,902  3,600 
 

TL denominated bank borrowings 21.05 - 24.20 48,076 13.85 - 14.95 15,000 

Finance lease payables  - 14 32 
 

Long-term bank borrowings  48,076  15,032 
 

Total financial liabilities  83,978  18,632 
 

(*) Annual weighted average interest rate of TL denominated short-term bank borrowings is 15.18% 

(31 December 2017: 14.75%). 
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NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) 

 

The redemption schedule of long-term borrowings at 31 December is as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

1 year 35,902 3,600 

1-2 years 48,076 15,032 
 

Total 83,978 18,632 

 

 

NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 

a) Balances with related parties at 31 December: 

 

Short-term trade receivables from related parties 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Due from shareholders 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 446 553 
 

 446 553 

 

Due from Associates 
 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 5 - 

Ekom Eczacıbaşı Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 1 - 
 

 6 - 
 

Due from other related parties 
 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş.    7 - 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. - 29 

Other 9 1 
 

 16 30 
 

Short-term due from related parties 468 583 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s receivables from related parties is 30 days (31 December 2017: 14 days) and is 

amortised at 21.51%  per annum (31 December 2017: 14.99%). 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

Short-term other payables from related parties 

 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 370 257 
 

Short-term other payables from related parties 370 257 

 

Long-term other payables from related parties  

 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 331 263 
 

Long-term other payables from related parties 331 263 
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NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 

 

a) Balances with related parties at 31 December (continued): 

 

Short-term trade payables to related parties 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Due to shareholders   
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 4,161 2,498 
 

 4,161 2,498 

 

Due to Joint Ventures  
 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 19 - 
 

 19 - 

 

Due to Associataes  
 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 4 13 
 

 4 13 

 

Due to other related parties  
 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 1,532 664 

Eczacıbaşı Spor Kulübü Derneği 600 275 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 366 302 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 278 - 

Other 108 15 
 

 2,884 1,256 
 

 7,068 3,767 
 

Deferred credit finance expenses (-) (3) - 
 

Short-term due to related parties 7,065 3,767 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s payables to related parties is 30 days (31 December 2017: 47 days) and is 

amortised at 21.11% per annum (31 December 2017: 14.99%). 

 

Deferred income from related parties 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri 

   Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (Note 13) 19,498 - 
 

Deferred income from related parties 19,498 - 
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NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 
 

b) Other transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 December: 
 

 2018 2017 

Product sales 
 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 108 - 

Other 32 - 
 

 140 - 

 

Service sales  
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 2,850 1,050 

Other - 47 
 

 2,850 1,097 

 

Product purchases 
 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 5 16 

Eczacıbaşı Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1 101 
 

 6 117 

 

Service purchases 
 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 6,660 5,318 

Eczacıbaşı Spor Kulübü Derneği 2,454 2,502 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1,236 691 

Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş. 94 - 

Other 24 150 
 

 10,468 8,661 

 

Dividend income from related parties  
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 71,468 99,261 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 100 135 

ESİ Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acentalığı A.Ş. 1 - 
 

 71,569 99,396 
 

The Group purchases computer hardware, computer by products and related consumable products from 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.; sanitary ware and related consumable products from İntema İnşaat ve 

Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. and various raw materials, finished goods and merchandise from 

other group companies. 
 

The Group renders services related to administration of Kanyon complex from Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve 

Pazarlama A.Ş.; IT consultancy services and technical services related to maintenance, operation, update, 

breakdown and system support from Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.; financial audit and consultancy, 

human resources, social affairs, finance, budget, corporate communication, legal, IT systems, communication, 

technical training etc. services from Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.; advertisement services from Eczacıbaşı Spor 

Kulübü; health services from Eczacıbaşı Sağlık Hizmetleri A.Ş.; and various other services from other group 

companies. 
 

Within the scope of Ormanada project which is jointly carried out within the scope of real estate activities, the 

Group provides supervision, monitoring and sub-contracting services to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 
 

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group does not have any contingent assets or liabilities arising from 

transactions with related parties. 
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NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 

 

c) Other transactions with related parties for year ended 31 December: 

 

Rent income received from related parties 2018 2017 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 5,078 4,339 

İntema Yaşam Ev ve Mutfak Ürünleri Pazarlama Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 466 468 

ESİ Eczacıbaşı Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş 264 226 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş. 13 12 

Tasfiye Halinde Eczacıbaşı-Baxter Hastane Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 10 9 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. 10 28 

Other 46 121 
 

 5,887 5,203 

 

The Group obtains rental income from the Kanyon office block and the properties in Ayazağa. 

 

Other income received from related parties 
 

Eczacıbaşı-Monrol Nükleer Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 45 - 
Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. (*) 16 34,996 

Other 3 - 
 

 64 34,996 

 

(*) The amount at 31 December 2017 has generated for the sale of the subsidiary Eczacıbaşı Girişim Pazarlama 

Tüketim Ürünleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. of Group which was realised on 4 July 2017. 

 

Rent expenses paid to related parties  
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 3,606 3,263 
 

 3,606 3,263 

 

Other expenses paid to related parties  
 

Kanyon Yönetim İşletim ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 846 659 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 437 731 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 35 171 

Eczacıbaşı Ortak Sağlık ve Güvenlik Birimi A.Ş. - 303 

Other 9 176 
 

 1,327 2,040 

 

Management and royalty fees paid to related parties 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. (*) 8,068 6,345 
 

 8,068 6,345 

 

(*) Management fees paid to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. comprise law, financial corporate identity, budget planning, audit 

and human resource services received from Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş.. These expenses are billed for relevant services 

in proportion to the time spent by the relevant department of Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

47 

NOTE 9 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 

 

c) Other transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 December (continued): 

 

 2018 2017 

Fixed asset purchases from related parties  

 

Eczacıbaşı Bilişim Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1,074 1,500 

İntema İnşaat ve Tesisat Malzemeleri Yatırım ve Pazarlama A.Ş. 500 8 
 

 1,574 1,508 

 

Benefits provided to top management: 
 

The Company has determined key management personnel as board members, group presidents, vice-presidents 

and general manager the Company and its subsidiaries. 

 

Short term benefits provided to key management personnel consists of salaries, premiums, social insurance 

related payments, health insurance and seniority incentive award. Long term benefits provided to key 

management personnel consists of employee termination benefits paid to discharged key management personnel 

due to retirement and / or transfer and service award payments. 

 

Details of compensation provided to key management personnel for the year ending as of 31 December 2018 and 

31 December 2017 are as follows: 

 

Benefits provided to top management 2018 2017 
 

Short term benefits provided to key management personnel 9,580 11,945 

Long term benefits provided to key management personnel 228 1,309 
 

 9,808 13,254 

 

 

NOTE 10 - TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 

 

a) Trade receivables 

 

Short-term trade receivables 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Trade receivables 128,558 111,047 

Notes receivables 45,150 39,284 

Income accruals 17,396 22 
 

 191,104 150,353 
 

Deferred credit finance income (-) (1,970) (2,602) 

Provision for doubtful receivables (-) (3,467) (2,358) 
 

Short-term trade receivables, net 185,667 145,393 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s receivables is 41 days (31 December 2017: 88 days) and TL denominated trade 

receivables are amortised at 21.11% per annum (31 December 2017: 14.91%). 
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NOTE 10 - TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (Continued) 

 

a) Trade receivables (continued) 

 

Movement of provision for doubtful receivables is presented below: 
 

 2018 2017 
 

As of 1 January 2,358 8,349 

Current year additions 1,137 159 

Reversal of provisions (-) (28) - 

Provisions related to discontinued operations - 101 

Disposals related to sale of subsidiary (Note 30) (-) - (6,251) 
 

As of 31 December 3,467 2,358 

 

Maximum credit risk and aging analysis related to trade receivables are included in Note 31. 

 

b) Trade payables 

 

Short-term trade payables 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Trade payables 186,352 131,927 

Expense accruals 1,660 943 

Deferred credit finance expenses (-) (1,396) (667) 
 

Kısa vadeli ticari borçlar, net 186,616 132,203 

 

Average maturity of the Group’s payables is 64 days (31 December 2017: 76 days) and TL denominated trade 

payables are amortised at 21.02% per annum (31 December 2017: 14.91%), EUR denominated trade payables 

are amortised at 0.0% per annum (31 December 2017: 0.08%) and USD denominated payables are amortised at 

2.12% per annum (31 December 2017: 0.25%). 

 

 

NOTE 11 - OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 

Other current assets 
 

Receivables from tax office - 123 

Deposits and collaterals given - 3 

Other 120 - 
 

Other current assets,net 120 126 

 

Other non-current assets   
 

Deposits and collaterals given 12 12 
 

Other non-current assets,net 12 12 

 

Short-term other liabilities   
 

Deposits and collaterals received 3,826 2,934 

Taxes payable 2,233 1,601 

Other 64 64 
 

Short-term other liabilities, net 6,123 4,599 
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NOTE 12 - INVENTORIES 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Raw materials and supplies 11,895 9,248 

Work in progress 30,192 18,354 

Finished goods 14,947 9,922 

Trade goods 18,319 8,122 

Other inventories 2,603 1,749 

Lands and houses (*) , (**) 13,076 27,278 
 

 91,032 74,673 
 

Provision for diminution in value of inventories (-) (3,496) (2,037) 
 

 87,536 72,636 
 

(*) Lands and houses contains undelivered houses cost of land of purchased by the Group in Zekeriyaköy as part of real 

estate development activities and project development costs incurred. 

 

(**) Residencies given to rent amounting to TL 4,937 thousand are classified as investment property. (31 December 2017: 

TL 14,662 thousand) 

 

The movements in the provision for impairment of inventories during the period are as follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 

As of 1 January 2,037 12,195 

Provisions during the period 1,459 1,728 

Reversal of provisions (-) - (3,239) 

Reversal of provisions related from discontinued operations (-) - (2,044) 

Disposals related to sale of subsidiary (-) - (6,603) 
 

As of 31 December 3,496 2,037 

 

 

NOTE 13 - PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

Short-term prepaid expenses  
 
Prepaid expenses 2,202 2,078 

Advances given 320 131 
 

  2,522 2,209 

 

Long-term prepaid expenses   

 
Prepaid expenses 964 1,020 

Advances given to subcontractors 172 172 
 

 1,136 1,192 
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NOTE 13 - PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME (Continued) 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

Short-term deferred income   

 

Advances received 332 599 

Unearned revenue 118 183 
 

 450 782 

 

Long-term deferred income   

 

Deferred income from related parties (Note 9) (*) 19,498 - 
 

 19,498 - 

 

(*) EBX has decided the distribution of advance on liquidation to the shareholders at the extraordinary general assembly 

meeting dated 18 June 2018 in the court decision of 8 May 2018. Since the liquidation process of EBX has not 

completed yet, the distributed advance on liquidation has shown under deferred revenue. 

 

 

NOTE 14 - CURRENT INCOME TAX ASSETS 
 

Current income tax assets 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Prepaid taxes and withholding taxes 13,810 63 
 

 13,810 63 

 

 

NOTE 15 - INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 

 1 January 2018 Additions Transfers Disposals 31 December 2018 
 

Cost 
Kanyon 230,475 7,093 - - 237,568 

Buildings (*) 61,690 1,029 4,937 (12,803) 54,853 

Lands and land improvements 152,544 550 - - 153,094 
 

 444,709 8,672 4,937 (12,803) 445,515 

 

Accumulated depreciation: 
Kanyon 60,988 5,172 - - 66,160 

Buildings 21,492 677 - (437) 21,732 

Lands and land improvements 440 - - - 440 
 

 82,920 5,849 - (437) 88,332 
 

Carrying amount 361,789    357,183 

 

(*) Residencies given to rent amounting to TL 4,937 thousand are classified from invetory. 
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NOTE 15 - INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 

 
 1 January 2017 Additions Transfers Disposals 31 December 2017 
 

Cost 
Kanyon 229,675 800 - - 230,475 
Buildings (*) 59,424 313 14,662 (12,709) 61,690 
Lands and land improvements 151,889 655 - - 152,544 
 

 440,988 1,768 14,662 (12,709) 444,709 

 
Accumulated depreciation: 
Kanyon 55,828 5,160 - - 60,988 
Buildings 21,703 497 - (708) 21,492 
Lands and land improvements 440 - - - 440 
 

 77,971 5,657 - (708) 82,920 
 

Carrying amount 363,017    361,789 

 

(*) Residencies given to rent amounting to TL 14,662 thousand are classified from invetory. 

 

For the periods ending at 31 December 2018, total rent income of Kanyon shopping centre and office complex is 

amounted to TL 83,663 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 75,537 thousand) and repair and maintenance expense 

of the related period is amounted to TL 126  thousand (31 December 2017: TL 1,416 thousand). 

 

Total rent income from other investment properties is amounting to TL 6,895 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 

6,098 thousand) for the year ended at 31 December 2018. 

 

As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, there are no pledges or liens on Group’s investment property.  

 

Fair Value 

 

As of 31 December 2018, fair value of Kanyon is approximately TL 847,373 thousand which consist of fair 

value of Kanyon shopping centre amounting TL 350,583 thousand and fair value of Kanyon Office complex 

amounting TL 496,790 thousand which is calculated from net present value of estimated rent income of Kanyon 

shopping centre and office complex by the Group Management (31 December 2017: Fair value of Kanyon is TL 

709 million which consist of fair value of Kanyon shopping centre amounting TL 287 million and fair value of 

Kanyon Office complex amounting TL 422 million, which is calculated from net present value of estimated rent 

income of Kanyon shopping centre and office complex). 

 

Other 

 

As of 31 December 2018,  fair value of other investment properties is amounting to TL 579,908 thousand (31 

December 2017: TL 527,922 thousand). Aforementioned fair values are determined for properties that generating 

rent income from the net present value “of anticipated rent income by the Company Management, whereas they 

are estimated for lands, which are purchased in current period by an independent evaluation company. This 

evaluation company that authorised by CMB, provides real estate valuation services pursuant to capital market 

legislation and has adequate experience and demonstrable knowledge in valuation of relevant areas. Upon 

valuation report, fair value of acquired properties is determined by comparing the imputed values that is reflected 

the actual transaction values of similar properties. 
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NOTE 16 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 1 January 2018 Additions Disposals Transfers 31 December 2018 
 

Cost 

Machinery, plant and equipment  9,791 132 (3) - 9,920 

Motor vehicles  485 127 - - 612 

Furniture and fixtures 4,605 347 (30) - 4,922 

Construction in progress - 90 - - 90 

Leasehold improvements 1,971 89 - - 2,060 

Other tangible assets 11,549 1,288 (11) - 12,826 
 

 28,401 2,073 (44) - 30,430 

 

Accumulated depreciation 

Machinery, plant and equipment 9,702 30 - - 9,732 

Motor vehicles 184 3 - - 187 

Furniture and fixtures 2,403 774 (17) - 3,160 

Leasehold improvements 1,595 293 - - 1,888 

Other tangible assets 8,451 970 (6) - 9,415 
 

 22,335 2,070 (23) - 24,382 
 

Carrying amount 6,066    6,048 

 

Allocation of depreciation and amortisation expenses for the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows: TL 6,002 thousand in cost of goods sold, TL 1,418 thousand in 

general and administrative expenses, TL 2,923 thousand in marketing.  
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NOTE 16 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 

    Additions related Disposals related Transfers to 

    to assets held to assets held assets held 

 1 January 2017 Additions Disposals  for sale for sale for sale 31 December 2017 
 

Cost 
Land and land improvements 19,286 - - 51 - (19,337) - 

Buildings 71,800 - - 1,554 - (73,354) - 

Machinery, plant and equipment 45,015 27 (3) 502 - (35,750) 9,791 

Motor vehicles 425 - - 299 - (239) 485 

Furniture and fixtures 21,630 582 (419) 228 (118) (17,298) 4,605 

Construction in progress 245 - - 776 - (1,021) - 

Leasehold improvements 3,661 97 - 63 - (1,850) 1,971 

Other tangible assets 21,220 1,119 (16) 229 (1,006) (9,997) 11,549 
 

 183,282 1,825 (438) 3,702 (1,124) (158,846) 28,401 

 

Accumulated depreciation        

Land improvements 166 - - 86 - (252) - 

Buildings 4,259 - - 737 - (4,996) - 

Machinery, plant and equipment 27,294 16 (3) 856 - (18,461) 9,702 

Motor vehicles 385 6 - 8 - (215) 184 

Furniture and fixtures 14,351 696 (397) 897 (118) (13,026) 2,403 

Leasehold improvements  1,962 264 - 74 - (705) 1,595 

Other tangible assets 12,477 810 (13) 769 (782) (4,810) 8,451 
 

 60,894 1,792 (413) 3,427 (900) (42,465) 22,335 
 

Carrying amount 122,388         6,066 

 

Allocation of depreciation and amortisation expenses for the year ended 31 December 2017 is as follows: TL 6,069 thousand in cost of goods sold, TL 1,244 thousand in 

general and administrative expenses, TL 3,020 thousand in marketing.  
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NOTE 17 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

 1 January 2018 Additions Disposals Transfers 31 December 2018 
 

Cost 

Rights 7,037 694 - 501 8,232 

Computer software 6,414 677 - 84 7,175 

Construction in progress 5,299 4,773 - (585) 9,487 

Other intangible assets 226 56 - - 282 
  

 18,976 6,200 - - 25,176 

 

Accumulated amortisation 

Rights 3,092 1,502 - - 4,594 

Computer software 5,074 881 - - 5,955 

Other intangible assets 190 41 - - 231 
 

 8,356 2,424 - - 10,780 
 

Carrying amount 10,620    14,396 
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NOTE 17 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 

 

    Additions related Disposals related Transfers to 

    to assets held to assets held assets held 

 1 January 2017 Additions Disposals  for sale for sale for sale 31 December 2017 
 

Cost 
Customer relations, licences and royalty 20,370 - - - - (20,370) - 

Rights 19,766 633 - 14 217 (13,593) 7,037 

Computer software 19,184 1,411 (109) 161 74 (14,307) 6,414 

Construction in progress 3,437 2,300 - (175) - (263) 5,299 

Other intangible assets 226 - - - - - 226 
 

 62,983 4,344 (109) - 291 (48,533) 18,976 

 

Accumulated amortisation        

Customer relations, licences and royalty 5,432 - - - 679 (6,111) - 

Rights 9,057 2,125 - - 320 (8,410) 3,092 

Computer software 13,269 728 (109) - 1,223 (10,037) 5,074 

Other intangible assets 159 31 - - - - 190 
 

 27,917 2,884 (109) - 2,222 (24,558) 8,356 
 

Carrying amount 35,066      10,620 
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NOTE 18 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 

a) Provisions 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Provision for litigations 1,453 894 
 

 1,453 894 

 

Provision for litigations: 
 

The Group has provided provision for the lawsuits filed against the Group in the amount of TL 1,453 thousand 

(31 December 2017: TL 894 thousand) based on the legal opinions taken on juridical, labour, commercial and 

administrative litigations and the assessment of similar litigations’ consequences in the past. Movement of the 

provision for litigations are stated below: 

  

 2018 2017 
 

As of 1 January 894 3,578 

Charge for the period (Note 25) 559 350 

Reversal of provisions (-) - - 

Provisions related to discontinuous operations - 650 

Disposals related to sale of subsidiary (-) - (3,684) 
 

As of 31 December 1,453 894 

 

b) Contingent assets 
 

Appeal for return of tax penalty paid: 
 

The Competition Authority decided to conduct an inquiry for 8 companies, including EİP, regarding tender of the 

Training Hospitals. As a result of the inquiry, a decision was made by the Competition Board at 19 January 2007 

and announced to the parties. With this decision, an administrative penalty amounting to TL 1,211 thousand, 

equivalent of 7.5% of the net sales of 2001, has been imposed on EİP. Regarding the penalty mentioned a reduced 

payment of TL 908 thousand has been made for early payment; there are no additional liabilities attributable to the 

penalty. The Group has applied to the Council of State for the refund of the penalty. 
 

On 20 August 2014, as a result of an investigation initiated by the Competition Board, 2 companies, including EİP 

were fined amounting to TL 930 thousand, based on the grounds that the Company violated competition rules. The 

Company benefited from the early payment option in 2015 and paid TL 698 thousand. 
 

There are no additional liabilities attributable to the penalty. The Company filed a lawsuit for the cancellation of the 

Competition Board’s decision and the reimbursement of the aforementioned amount. 
 

c) Contingent liabilities 
 

I- Tax and tax related penalties of the Company 
 

Tax penalty notified as at 7 April 2011 
 

On 29 December 2011, a VAT report is prepared by tax inspectors of Ministry of Finance in connection with tax 

inspection report related to 2006 which was resulted in favour of the Company. Based on that report, TL 3,113 

thousand regarding the tax and TL 3,113 thousand regarding the penalty have been levied against the Company by 

the Büyük Mükellefler Tax Administration. 
 

Büyük Mükellefler Tax Administration has applied to the Council of State for the appeal of this lawsuit. The 

Company responded to the petition of the defendant and sent to the State Council. The lawsuit is still in progress in 

Council of State. There has been no changes in current period. 
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NOTE 18 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 (Continued) 
 

c) Contingent liabilities (continued) 
 

II- Tax and tax related penalties of the Group’s joint venture EBX 
 

With respect to inspection reports on VAT refund of services purchased by EBX, the Company’s joint venture, 

based on the inspections performed by tax auditors of Ministry of Finance: 
 

i) In accordance with the inspection reports conducted by the Ministry of Finance Revenue Inspectors for 

Company's business partners EBX regarding the VAT return related with services they have purchased 

under the VAT recall, the tax cases in respect of the tax principal and penalties were lost and the lawsuits 

filed by the Council of State appeal to the applicant on 24 July 2012. Regarding these cases that have been 

lost in the tax court; a provision amounting to TL 17,764 thousand has been set aside for the EBX which 

has been condensated according to the equity method with a 50% share from TL 35,528 thousand 

considering the default interest and this amount has been paid in full.  
 

ii) Corporate tax for the year 2006/6, VAT for the period 2006/6 and the unfair tax return (VAT) for the 

period 2007/3, Taxation withholding tax for the 3rd, 6th and 9th periods of 2006 and with hold corporate 

tax for the 12th period of 2006, 2006 Appeals were filed against the Council of State for 5 different cases 

related to the 1st, 2nd and 3rd period corporate temporary tax and the 4th term corporate temporary tax of 

2006 and for the appeal cases against EBX, the Administrative Judgment Procedure Law ( "İYUK") 54th 

article of "Adjustment of the Decision" within the legal periods of the lawsuits were opened, four of these 

cases were lost to the decision of the Supreme Administrative Court and the legal process was completed. 
The last one of these lawsuits (VAT case) was concluded against the EBX center and the file was 

completed in legal processes.  
 

iii) Request of the taxpayer to stop the executive in the Tax Court regarding the payment of TL4,104 

thousand which is not accepted as an offset request in 2012 due to the declared amount of VAT that 

should be returned due to the taxpayers of the Grand Taxpayers Tax Office related to 2010. The lawsuit 

filed against the company's business partnership. Both the appeals and the remedies in the Council of 

State were concluded against the Company's joint venture and the legal process was completed and the 

file was completed. 
 

III- Tax and tax related penalties and litigation of the Group’s subsidiary EİP 
 

Tax penalty notified as at 3 August 2012 
 

Within the scope of inspections of companies in pharmaceuticals industry by the Tax Auditors of the Ministry of 

Finance, a limited investigation has been conducted for EİP Eczacıbaşı İlaç Pazarlama A.Ş. and EIP has been 

notified for tax penalties consisting of TL 570 thousand regarding VAT and TL 855 thousand for its activities of the 

2010 - 2011 periods. Based on on-going inspection process, tax penalties for TL 282 thousand of Corporate Tax, 

TL 365 thousand VAT and TL 917 thousand penalty have been notified for financial year 2010. 

 

EIP filed lawsuits for the related tax and tax penalties since no settlement was reached in Büyük Mükellefler 

Büyük Mükellefler Tax Administration. The lawsuits amounting to TL 570 thousand VAT, TL 855 thousand 

penalty and TL 365 thousand VAT, TL 635 thousand penalty have concluded in favour of EIP. Both the appeals 

and the remedies in the Council of State were concluded against the Company's joint venture and the legal 

process was completed and the file was completed. 
 

The lawsuit related to TL 282 thousand attributable to corporate tax and TL 282 thousand attributable to tax 

penalty was concluded against EIP despite other lawsuits concluded in favour of EIP. EIP has applied to the 

council of State and the lawsuit is still in progress. The lawsuit related to TL 282 thousand attributable to 

corporate tax and TL 282 thousand attributable to tax penalty was concluded against EIP despite other lawsuits 

concluded in favour of EIP. EIP has applied to the Council of State and the lawsuit is concluded in favour of EIP. 

However, Tax Court insisted on their decision by not accepting the decision of the Council of State. EİP has 

applied to the Plenary Session of the Tax Law Chamber of the Council of State for the appeal of this decision.
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NOTE 18 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 (Continued) 

 

c) Contingent liabilities (continued) 

 

III- Tax and tax related penalties and litigation of the Group’s subsidiary EİP (continued) 

 

The appeal of EİP has accepted by the Plenary Session of the Tax Law Chamber of the council of State; also 

decided to reversal insistent decision by a majority vote to re-decide after more detailed study has been made on 

the side of Tax Court. 

 

The court file was sent back to Istanbul 8.Tax Court, Tax Court demanded additional information and documents 

from EİP and reassessed the case. Council of State accepted the resolution of general assembly of Tax Court Office 

and canceled the tax assessment with penalty. Tax Court cancelled the tax assessment based on the decision of 

reversal, but the decision was appealed by the Tax Office. This request for appeal was re-discussed at the General 

Assembly of the Tax Law Offices of the Council of State and the request of the tax administration was rejected and 

the tax court approved the decision and the legal process was completed. 

 

The lawsuit related to price differences from market values 

 

Various public hospitals governed by Turkish Ministry of Health (“MoH”) claimed approximately  

TL1,749 thousand for the refund of price differences determined between the prices of medical supplies at which 

the Group sold to these public hospitals and the market values which were determined by Market Value Settlement 

Committee established by Social Security Institution Health Administration Department based on the vesting deed 

given by the Group in 1998. The Group faced lawsuits filed against it by the MoH for the collection of these claims 

amounting to approximately TL403 thousand; preliminary hearings and discovery proceedings in these lawsuits are 

in progress. Considering the continuing legal process and uncertainty regarding the ultimate outcome of the matter, 

no provision has been provided in the consolidated financial statements. There has been no changes in current 

period. 

 

d) Guarantees given and taken 

 

    31 December 2018  
 

 USD EUR TL Total 
 

Guarantees given 
 

Letters of guarantee - - 1,639 1,639 
 

 - - 1,639 1,639 

 

Guarantees received 
 

Letters of guarantee 9,671 - 45,301 54,972 

Guarantee bill 773 - 290 1,063 
 

 10,444 - 45,591 56,035 
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NOTE 18 - PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 (Continued) 
 

d) Guarantees given and taken (continued) 

 

    31 December 2017  
 

 USD EUR TL Total 

 

Guarantees given 
 

Letters of guarantee - - 12,030 12,030 
 

 - - 12,030 12,030 

 

Letters of guarantee     
 

Letters of guarantee 9,025 243 25,076 34,344 

Guaranteed bills of exchange 554 - 172 726 
 

 9,579 243 25,248 35,070 

 

Letters and guaranteed bills of exchange were given to suppliers and government institutions. Mortgages, cheques 

and guaranteed bills of exchange were taken from customer for trade receivables of the Group. 

 

Collateral / pledge / mortgage (“CPM”) position of the Group. as of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 is 

as follows: 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

A.  CPMs given for Company’s own legal personality  189 189 

- Collateral (Fully denominated in TL) 189 189 

- Pledge - - 

- Mortgage - - 

B.  CPMs given on behalf of fully consolidated companies - - 

- Collateral - - 

- Pledge - - 

- Mortgage - - 

C.  CPMs given in the normal course of business activities on behalf of - - 

     third parties - - 

D.  Total amount of other CPMs - - 

i.  Total amount of CPMs given on behalf of the parent - - 

- Collateral - - 

- Pledge - - 

- Mortgage - - 

ii.  Total amount of CPMs given to on behalf of other Group companies - - 

      which are not in scope of B and C - - 

 iii. Total amount of CPMs given on behalf of third parties - - 

       which are not in scope of C - - 
 

 189 189 

 

Proportion of other CPMs given to the Group’s equity as of 31 December 2018 is 0% (31 December 2017: 0%). 
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NOTE 19 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

Employee benefit obligations 

 

Social security premiums payable 941 1,054 

Wages payable to employees 119 71 
 

 1,060 1,125 

 

Short term provisions for employee benefits 

 

Provision for unused vacations 2,956 2,751 
 

 2,956 2,751 

 

Provision for unused vacations: 

 
Movements in the provision for unused vacation are as follows as of 31 December: 
 

 2018 2017 
 
As of 1 January 2,751 5,928 

Charge for the period (Note 23, 24) 528 961 
Payments during the period (-) (323) (242) 
Provisions related to discontinuous operations - 35 
Disposals related to sale of subsidiary (-) - (3,931) 
 

As of 31 December 2,956 2,751 

 

Long term provisions for employee benefits 

 

Provision for employment termination benefits: 
 
Under Turkish Labour Law, the Company and its Turkish Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures are required to pay 
termination benefits to each employee who has completed one year of service and whose employment is 
terminated without due cause, who is called up for military service, dies or retires after completing 25 years of 
service (20 years for women) and reaches the retirement age (58 for women and 60 for men). Some transition 
provisions related to the pre-retirement service term were excluded from the law since the related law was 
amended as of 23 May 2002. 

 
As of 31 December 2018, the amount payable consists of one month’s salary limited to a maximum of TL 
5,434.42 (31 December 2017: TL 4,732.48) for each year of service. As of 31 December 2018 calculation of 
provision for employee termination benefit has been performed considering one month’s salary limited to a 
maximum of TL 6,017.60 which is valid from 1 January 2019 (31 December 2017: TL 5,001.76). 

 
The liability is not funded as there is no funding requirement. The provision has been calculated by estimating 
the present value of the future probable obligation of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve 
Ticaret A.Ş. and its subsidiaries and joint ventures registered in Turkey arising from the retirement of employees. 

 
TAS 19 “Employee Benefits” published by POA require actuarial valuation methods to be developed to estimate 
the enterprise’s obligation under defined benefit plans.  
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NOTE 19 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
Provision for employment termination benefits (continued): 

 
Accordingly the following actuarial assumptions were used in the calculation of the total liability:: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Discount rate (%) 4.78 4.11 
Turnover rate to estimate the probability of retirement (%) (*) 93 - 98 93 - 98 
 

(*) For the estimation of the probability of retirement, the turnover rate was used for employees with services up to 15 
years, and for employees with 16 years of service and over, it was taken as 100%. 

 
The principal assumption is that the maximum liability for each year of service will increase in line with 
inflation. The discount rate thus applied represents the expected rate of actual inflation.  
 
Movements in the provision for employment termination benefits are as follows as of 31 December: 
 
 2018 2017 
 
As of 1 January 2,953 7,774 
Charge for the period (Note 23, 24) 2,678 115 
Payments during the period (-) (1,544) (684) 
Actuarial gain / (loss) (8) - 
Additions related to subsidiary sold - 592 
Payments related to subsidiary sold (-) - (1,084) 
Disposals related to sale of subsidiary (-) - (3,760) 
 

As of 31 December 4,079 2,953 

 
 
NOTE 20 - OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
Other current assets 
 
VAT receivables 815 7,731 
Advances given to personnel 30 119 
 

 845 7,850 

 
Other non-current assets 
 
VAT receivables 12,198 10,142 
 

 12,198 10,142 

 
Other current liabilities 
 
Other 112 96 
 

 112 96 
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NOTE 21 - CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS  
 

EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. adopted the registered share capital system 

available to companies registered with the CMB and set a limit on its registered share capital representing registered 

type shares with a nominal value of Kr 1. There are no privileged shares, EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.’s 

subscribed, historical and authorised share capital for the years ended at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 are 

as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Limit on registered share capital (historical value) 1,920,000 1,920,000 

Authorised share capital approved with nominal value 685,260 685,260 

 

Companies in Turkey may exceed the limit on their registered share capital if they distribute bonus shares to their 

shareholders. 

 

At 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the shareholders of EİS Eczacıbaşı İlaç, Sınai ve Finansal Yatırımlar 

Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. and their proportion of ownership interests in historical share capital are as follows: 

 

Shareholders (%) 31 December 2018 (%) 31 December 2017 
 

Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş. 50.62 346,845 50.62 346,845 

Eczacıbaşı Yatırım Holding Ortaklığı A.Ş. 29.67 203,295 29.35 201,117 

Other (Listed) (*) 19.72 135,120 20.03 137,298 
 

Total 100.00 685,260 100.00 685,260 
 

Adjustment to share capital  105,777  105,777 
 

Total authorised share capital  791,037  791,037 

 

(*)  Within the framework of Capital Markets Board’s decision, dated 23 July 2010 and numbered 21/655, actual rates of 

the shares in circulation of the listed companies in BIST are announced on a weekly basis starting from the period 

ended 30 September 2010, became effective as of 1 October 2010 by the Central Registry Agency (“CRA”). 

According to the report published by CRA on 31 December 2018, 19.70% (31 December 2017: 20.02%) of the 

Group’s shares in circulation are presented in the other group. 

 

Adjustment to share capital represents the difference between the cash contributions adjusted for inflation and the cash 

contributions prior to adjustment for inflation. 

 

Retained earnings in statutory accounts can be distributed except jurisdiction stated below related to legal reserves. 

 

The legal reserves consist of first and second reserves, appropriated in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code 

(“TCC”). The TCC stipulates that the first legal reserve is appropriated out of statutory profits at the rate of 5% per 

annum, until the total reserve reaches 20% of the Company’s paid-in / authorised share capital. The second legal 

reserve is appropriated at the rate of 10% per annum of all cash distributions in excess of 5% of the paid-in / authorised 

share capital. Under the TCC, the legal reserves can only be used to offset losses and are not available for any other 

usage unless they exceed 50% of paid-in / authorised share capital. Total amount of legal reserves of the Company is 

TL 149,854 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 128,727 thousand). 
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NOTE 21 - CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS (Continued) 
 

The aforementioned legal reserves and special reserves shall be classified in “Restricted reserves” in accordance 

with POA Financial Reporting Standards. Details of the restricted reserves as of 31 December 2018 and 31 

December 2017 are as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Legal reserves 149,854 128,727 

Gain on sale of shares of associates 48,843 39,368 

Corporate tax deduction 1,000 - 
 

 199,697 168,095 

 

Retained earnings 

 

In accordance with the CMB regulations effective previously, the inflation adjustment differences arising at the 

initial application of inflation accounting which were recorded under “accumulated losses” could be netted off 

from the profit to be distributed based on CMB profit distribution regulations. In addition, the aforementioned 

amount recorded under “accumulated losses” could be netted off with net income for the period and if any, 

undistributed prior period profits and inflation adjustment differences of extraordinary reserves, legal reserves 

and capital, respectively. 

 

On the same basis, in accordance with the CMB regulations effective until 1 January 2008, “Capital, Share 

Premiums, Legal Reserves, Special Reserves and Extraordinary Reserves” were recorded at their statutory 

carrying amounts and the inflation adjustment differences related to such accounts were recorded under 

“inflation adjustment differences” at the initial application of inflation accounting. “Equity inflation adjustment 

differences” could have been utilised by issuing bonus shares and offsetting accumulated losses, carrying amount 

of extraordinary reserves could have been utilised in issuing bonus shares, cash dividend distribution and 

offsetting accumulated losses. 

 

In accordance with Communiqué Serial: XI, No: 29 and related announcements of the CMB, effective from 1 

January 2008, “Share capital”, “Restricted Reserves” and “Share Premiums” shall be carried at their statutory 

amounts. The valuation differences shall be classified as follows: 

 

- the difference arising from the “Paid-in Capital” and not been transferred to capital yet, shall be classified 

under the “Inflation Adjustment to Share Capital”; 

- the difference due to the inflation adjustment of “Restricted Reserves” and “Share Premium” and the 

amount that has not been utilised in dividend distribution or capital increase yet, shall be classified under 

“Prior years’ income”.  
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NOTE 21 - CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS (Continued) 
 

Dividend Distribution 
 

Listed companies are subject to dividend requirements regulated by the CMB as follows: 

 

According to the Article 19 of the Capital Market Law, numbered 6362 and effective from 30 December 2012, 

and Dividend Communiqué of CMB, numbered II-19.1 and effective from 1 February 2014, listed companies 

shall distribute their profits within the framework of the profit distribution policies to be determined by their 

general assemblies and in accordance with the prevailing regulations. Regarding the profit distribution policies of 

the listed companies, CMB may set different principles on companies with similar qualifications. 

 

In accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code, unless the required reserves and the dividend for shareholders 

as determined in the Articles of Association or in the dividend distribution policy of the company are set aside; 

no decision may be taken to set up other reserves, to transfer profits to the subsequent year or to distribute 

dividends to the holders of usufruct shares, to the members of the board of directors or to the employees; and no 

dividend can be distributed to these people unless the determined dividend for shareholders is paid in cash. 

 

For the listed companies, dividend distribution is made evenly to all existing shares as of the date of dividend 

distribution without considering the dates of issuance and acquisition of the shares. Companies shall distribute 

their profits through general assembly decisions in accordance with the profit distribution policies to be 

determined by their general assemblies as well as the related provisions of the prevailing regulations. A 

minimum distribution rate has not been determined in these regulations. The companies pay dividends as 

determined in their articles of associations or profit distribution policies. Furthermore, dividends may be paid in 

instalments with same or different amounts and profit share advances may be distributed over the profit in the 

interim financial statements. 

 

In accordance with Article 26 of the Company’s Articles of Association, decision to be taken by the General 

Assembly, the dividends are distributed after the first legal reserves set aside over income before tax, financial 

obligations and first level dividends based on Capital Markets Board legislation. As of 31 December 2018, the 

distributable profit of the Company is TL 249,371 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 206,117 thousand) and 

available distributable resources amount to TL 236,107 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 186,796 thousand) 

according to the statutory financial statements. 

 

 

NOTE 22 - REVENUE 

 2018 2017 

 

Domestic sales 841,111 727,176 

Exports 707 483 
 

Gross sales 841,818 727,659 
 

Sales returns (-) (6,368) (3,380) 

Sales discounts (-) (143,356) (126,370) 
 

Net sales 692,094 597,909 
 

Cost of sales (-) (447,692) (363,476) 
 

Gross profit 244,402 234,433 
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NOTE 23 - GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES, MARKETNG EXPENSES 

 

 2018 2017 

Marketing expenses 
 

Personnel expenses 59,526 50,532 

Advertisement, presentation and promotion expenses 37,271 38,065 

Transportation, distribution and warehousing expenses 8,236 6,314 

Rent expenses 7,693 5,373 

Fuel, energy and water expenses 3,685 3,157 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (Note 15,16 and 17) 2,923 3,020 

Education expenses 2,064 2,550 

Travelling expenses 2,362 2,511 

Technical support, license and know-how expenses 1,768 1,290 

Other 3,137 2,653 
 

 128,665 115,465 

 

General administrative expenses 
 

Personnel expenses 26,239 26,464 

Consultancy expenses 11,875 12,178 

Rent expenses 5,487 4,866 

Miscellaneous taxes 4,902 3,931 

Advertisement, presentation and promotion expenses 3,029 2,898 

Provision expense for doubtful receivables (Note 19) 2,678 115 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (Note 15, 16 and 17) 1,418 1,244 

Research expense 1,168 1,308 

Repair and maintenance expenses 1,149 2,200 

Office expenses 996 901 

Provision for unpaid vacation (Note 19) 528 961 

Other 3,223 5,008 
 

 62,692 62,074 

 

 

NOTE 24 - EXPENSES BY NATURE 

 

 2018 2017 

 

Purchase and consumption of inventories 407,530 328,964 

Personnel expenses 85,765 76,996 

Advertisement and promotion expenses 40,300 40,963 

Rent expenses 13,180 10,239 

Consultancy expense 11,875 12,178 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (Note 15, 16 ve 17) 10,343 10,333 

Changes in commercial inventories 10,197 863 

Transportation, distribution and warehousing expenses 8,236 6,314 

Expense of provision for employment termination benefits (Note 19) 2,678 115 

Research expense 1,168 1,308 

Office expenses 996 901 

Contract manufacturing expense 745 512 

Provision for employment termination benefits (Note 19) 528 961 

Other 45,508 50,368 
 

 639,049 541,015 
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NOTE 25 - OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES 
 

 2018 2017 

Other operating income 
 

Foreign exchange gains from bank deposits 301,959 152,013 

Interest income from bank deposits 33,875 21,021 

Foreign exchange gains from trade receivables and payables 23,880 12,240 

Credit finance income 6,587 6,729 

Other 1,729 5,011 
 

 368,030 197,014 

 

Other operating expenses 
 

Foreign exchange losses from bank deposits 161,954 99,007 

Foreign exchange losses from trade receivables and payables 39,790 13,482 

Credit finance expenses 8,003 4,191 

Provision expense for legal case (Note 18) 559 350 

Donation expenses 280 276 

Other 2,126 7,543 
 

 212,712 124,849 

 

 

NOTE 26 - INCOME FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
 

 2018 2017 

Income from investment activities 
 

Dividend income 71,569 99,396 

Earnings from disposal of subsidiaries 20 47,302 

Earnings from disposal of fixed assets 11 6 

Other 999 1 
 

 72,599 146,705 

 

 

NOTE 27 - FINANCIAL INCOME / EXPENSES 
 

 2018 2017 

Financial income 
 

Derivative transactions income 15,999 17,087 

Foreign currency differences income 11,000 - 
 

 26,999 17,087 
 

Financial expenses 
 

Interest expense from bank borrowings 12,118 4,551 

Foreign exchange losses 4,786 3 

Commissions of letter of guarantees 523 321 

Derivative transactions expenses - 13 

Other 285 1,088 
 

 17,712 5,976 
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NOTE 28 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

 

a) Current income tax on profits 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Corporate and income taxes payable (Company) 53,075 26,622 

Prepaid taxes (-) (Company) (64,949) (18,793) 
 

 (11,874) 7,829 
 

Corporate and income taxes payable (Subsidiary) - - 

Prepaid taxes (-) (Subsidiary) (1,936) (63) 
 

 (1,936) (63) 
 

Current income tax liabilities, (net) (13,810) 7,766 

 

Turkish tax legislation does not permit a parent company and its Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates to file 

a consolidated tax return. Therefore, provisions for taxes, as reflected in these consolidated financial statements, 

have been calculated on a separate-entity basis. 

 

Corporate Tax Law is changed with Law No, 5520 dated 13 June 2006, and most of the articles of mentioned law 

have become effective as of 1 January 2006. Accordingly, corporate tax rate in Turkey is 22% for 2018 (2017: 

20%). Corporation tax is payable on the total income of the Company after adjusting for certain disallowable 

expenses, corporate income tax exemptions (participation exemption, investment incentive allowance, etc.) and 

corporate income tax deductions (like research and development expenditures deduction). No further tax is payable 

unless the profit is distributed except withholding tax at the rate of 19.8% on the investment incentive allowance 

utilised within the scope of the Income Tax Law transitional Article 61. 

 

Dividends paid to non-resident corporations, which have a place of business in Turkey, or resident corporations are 

not subject to withholding tax. Otherwise, dividends paid are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 15%. An 

increase in capital via issuing bonus shares is not considered as a profit distribution and thus does not incur 

withholding tax. 

 

Corporations are required to pay advance corporation tax quarterly at the rate of 22% on their corporate income by 

preparing tax declaration within the period of two months and 14 days subsequent to the corresponding quarter. 

Advance tax is payable by the 17th of the second month following each calendar quarter end. Advance tax paid by 

corporations is credited against the annual corporation tax liability. The balance of the advance tax paid may be 

refunded or used to set off against other liabilities to the government. 

 

In accordance with Tax Law No, 5024 “Law Related to Changes in Tax Procedural Law, Income Tax Law and 

Corporate Tax Law” that was published on the Official Gazette on 30 December 2003 to amend the tax base for 

non-monetary assets and liabilities, effective from 1 January 2004, income and corporate taxpayers will prepare the 

statutory financial statements by adjusting the non-monetary assets and liabilities for the changes in the general 

purchasing power of Turkish Lira. In accordance with the aforementioned law provisions, in order to apply inflation 

adjustment, cumulative inflation rate (SIS-WPI) over last 36 months and 12 months must exceed 100% and 10%, 

respectively. Inflation adjustment was not applied as these conditions were not fulfilled in the year ended 2018 and 

2017. 

 

Under the Turkish taxation system, tax losses can be carried forward to offset against future taxable income for up 

to five years. Tax losses cannot be carried back to offset profits from previous periods. 
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NOTE 28 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

(Continued) 

 

a) Current income tax on profits (continued) 

 

Turkish Corporate Tax Law No, 5422 on “Exemption of real estate and investment sales gains” has been amended 

by Law No: 5520 effective from 1 January 2006. A 75% portion of the gains derived from the sale of preferential 

rights, usufruct shares and founding shares from investment equity and real property which has remained in assets 

for more than two full years is exempt from corporate tax. 

 

In accordance with Article 32/A4 added with the New Corporate Tax Law No. 5838 Article 9, the discounted rate is 

applied to the earnings derived from capacity expansion investment, when these earnings could be accounted 

separately in the books of a company. When these earnings could not be accounted separately in the books, the 

earnings, to which the discounted rate will be applied, is determined by using the percentage of the amount of 

capacity expansion investment to the carrying amount of registered total tangible asset (including amounts relating 

to construction in progress) that company at period end. For this calculation, the carrying amount of registered total 

tangible asset in the company assets is taken into consideration with their revalued amounts. The application of the 

discounted rate commences in the advance tax period in which the investment partly or fully starts to its operations. 

 

The taxes on income reflected to the consolidated income statement of the year ended 31 December are 

summarized below: 

 2018 2017 

 

Current income tax expenses (53,075) (26,622) 

Deferred tax expenses (2,087) (1,515) 
 

Total tax expense (-) (55,162) (28,137) 

 

The reconciliation as of 31 December corporation tax expense included in the consolidated statement of income 

to the tax expense calculated with the current tax rate on the consolidated income before taxes is as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Profit before tax 295,251 170,877 

 

Current year corporation tax expense (64,955) (34,175) 

Tax effect of disallowable expenses (71) (857) 

Exemption of dividend and other tax-exempt income 15,745 19,879 

Tax losses disregarded in the calculation of deferred tax assets   

   in the previous periods and recognised in the current period 1,623 2,783 

Tax losses disregarded in the calculation of deferred tax (8,783) - 

Items disregarded in the calculation of deferred tax - 6,289 

Equity method accounting 1,101 (23,195) 

Other 178 1,139 
 

Total tax expense (-) (55,162) (28,137) 

 

b) Deferred tax 

 

The Group recognises deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising between the 

financial statements prepared in accordance with TAS / TFRS and the tax financial statements. Such temporary 

differences generally arise due to revenues and expenses being recognised in different fiscal periods in accordance 

with tax regulations and TAS / TFRS. The tax rate used for deferred tax assets and liabilities is 22%  

(31 December 2017: 20%). 
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NOTE 28 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

(Continued) 

 

b) Deferred tax (continued) 

 

In accordance with the regulation numbered 7061, published in Official Gazette on 5 December 2017," Law on the 

Amendment of Some Tax Acts and Some Other Laws”, corporate tax rate for the years 2018, 2019 and 2020 has 

increased from 20% to 22%. Therefore, deferred tax assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2018 are calculated 

with 22% tax rate for the temporary differences which will be realized in 2019 and 2020, and with 20% tax for 

those which will be realized after 2021 and onwards, however since the effect of change in tax rate on financial 

statements is immaterial, calculated amount is not accunted in financial statements as of 31 December 2018. 

 

The breakdown of cumulative temporary differences and the resulting deferred tax assets and liabilities provided 

at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 using the enacted tax rates is as follows: 

 

  Deferred tax 

 Cumulative temporary assets /  

  differences   (liabilities)  

 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 

Difference between the tax base and 

   carrying amount of investment property 

   plant and equipment and intangible assets (10,701) (13,439) 2,356 2,688 

Carry forward tax losses (7,379) (6,509) 1,623 1,302 

Provision for employment termination benefits (4,079) (2,953) 897 591 

Provision for doubtful receivables (2,873) (1,764) 632 353 

Difference between the tax base and carrying 

   amount of inventories (3,496) (2,037) 769 407 

Deferred revenue (1,970) (2,602) 433 520 

Provision for litigations (1,453) (894) 320 179 

Provision for unused vacation (2,956) (2,751) 650 550 

Other -  (770) - 154 
 

Deferred tax assests (**) (34,907) (33,719) 7,680 6,744 
 

Fair value differences of available 

 for-sale financial assets (*) 2,863,679 2,432,224 (143,184) (121,611) 

Deferred credit finance expenses 17,986 1,585 (3,957) (316) 

Income / (expense) accruals for  

 derivative financial instruments - 3,310 - (662) 
 

Deferred tax liabilities (-) (**) 2,881,665 2,437,119 (147,141) (122,589) 
 

Deferred tax liabilities, net   (139,461) (115,845) 
 

(*)  Difference between fair value and book value amounts to TL 2,863,679 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 2,432,224 

thousand) and based on the 75% exemption from the corporate tax denoted in Article 5, subsection (1), clause (e) of 

Corporate Tax Law No, 5520, deferred tax is calculated by applying 5% effective tax rate. 

 

(**)  Since deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in the schedule above are summarized by nature of the temporary 

differences subject to deferred tax, they express the offset of deferred tax asset amounting to TL 147,141 thousand  

(31 December 2017: TL 122,589 thousand) and deferred tax liability amounting to TL 7,679 thousand  

(31 December 2017: TL 6,744 thousand) presented in the financial statements, which are calculated on a separate 

entity basis for all companies included in the scope of consolidation. 



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

70 

NOTE 28 - TAXES ON INCOME (DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) 

(Continued) 

 
b) Deferred tax (continued) 
 
As a result of the evaluations made, it is probable that the Group will be able to deduct the temporary differences 

that can be deducted from the deductible temporary differences amounting to TL 4,931 thousand  

(31 December 2017: TL 3,927 thousand) as of 31 December 2018 from the deductible temporary differences 

amounting to TL 986 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 785 thousand) have not been recognized in the deferred 

tax asset. 

 

The expiry date of the right to use deferred tax assets for which no deferred tax asset is allocated is as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Ends in 2018 - 42 

Ends in 2019  - 24 

Ends in 2020  1,183 886 

Ends in 2021  1,634 1,964 

Ends in 2022  2,114 1,011 
 

 4,931 3,927 

 

Since each of the Subsidiaries is taxpayers separately, a net deferred tax asset or liability is calculated for each 

taxpayer, but these amounts are not offset in the statement of financial position. 

 

The movement of deferred tax liabilities in the period is as follows: 

 2018 2017 

 

As of 1 January (115,845) (81,317) 

Current year deferred tax (expense) / income (2,087) (1,515) 

Deferred tax liability accounted under equity resulting from 

increase in value of available-for-sale financial assets (*) (21,573) (21,763) 

Other 44 - 

Deferred tax expense discontinued operations - (2,566) 

Disposals related to sale of subsidiary - (8,684) 
 

As of 31 December (139,461) (115,845) 
 

(*) It consists of tax that is recognized directly in shareholders' equity. In shareholders' equity, no tax is transferred to the 

profit and loss account 
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NOTE 29 - EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Net gain attributable to equity holders of the Company 240,119 145,941 
 

Profit from continuous operations 240,119 142,419 

Profit from discontinued operations - 3,522 

   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares with 

   face value of Kr 1 each 68,526,000,000 68,526,000,000 

 

Earning per share (Kr) 0.3504 0.2130 
 

Basic earnings per share from continuous operations 0.3504 0.2080 

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations - 0.0051 

 

 

NOTE 30 - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

 

At the Board Of Director’s meeting held on 28 April 2017, it was resolved to sale of the Group’s share in 

Eczacıbaşı Girişim which contribute 48.13% of total shares to Eczacıbaşı Holding A.Ş and at the extraordinary 

general assembly meeting held on 3 July 2017, it was approved to sale of the Group’s share and the shares has 

been transferred on 4 July 2017. In the prior periods, the subsidiary and Eczacıbaşı Hijyen Ürünleri Sanayi ve 

Ticaret A.Ş. and Eczacıbaşı Profesyonel Ürün ve Hizmetler Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş which own 100% ownership 

with the related subsidary which are consolidated with full consolidation method, is shown in the discontinued 

operations. The financial information of the transaction up to the sale date of the subsidiray is disclosed below 

 

a) Cash flows from discounted operations 

  4 July 2017 

 

Cash flows from operating activities  (36,416) 

Cash flows from investment activities  (3,125) 

Cash flows from financing activities  20,466 
 

Total cash flows  (19,075) 

 

b) Assets related to sold subsidiary 

 4 July 2017 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,755 

Trade receivables 385,781 

Other receivables 10,003 

Inventories 42,727 

Prepaid expenses 6,867 

Current income tax assets 68 

Other current assets 2,353 

Available for sale financial investments 4,851 

Tangible fixed assets 116,381 

Goodwill 24,117 

Intangible fixed assets 23,978 

Other non-current assets 414 

Deferred tax assets 11,538 
 

Toplam 630,833 
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NOTE 30 - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 

 

c) Liabilities related to sold subsidiary 

 4 July 2017 
 

Borrowings 239,769 

Trade payables 363,152 

Employee benefit obligations 1,196 

Other payables 15,253 

Deferred income 450 

Short term provisions 8,527 

Other short term payables 777 

Long term provisions 3,760 

Deferred tax liabilities 2,853 
 

Total 635,737 

 

The results of the discontinued operations are as follows: 

 4 July 2017 
 

Income 536,510 

Expense (527,153) 

Profit before tax from discontinued operations 9,357 

Tax (2,566) 
 

Net profit from discontinued operations 6,791 

 
The detail of sale of the subsidiary is as follows; 
  4 Temmuz 2017 
 

Cash from sale of subsidiary  37,541 
Net asset of subsidiary sold (-)  4,904 
 

Total  42,445 
 

Current period profit from discontinued operations (-)  (6,791) 

Other comprehensive income from discontinued operations  (658) 
 

Net income from sale of subsidiary  34,996 

 

 

NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The Group is exposed to variety of financial risks due to its operations. These risks include credit risk, market 

risk (foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management 

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects 

on the Group’s financial performance. Financial risk management is carried out by the Subsidiaries and Joint 

Ventures of the Group under policies approved by their own Boards of Directors. 

 

a) Credit risk 

 

The ownership of financial assets is exposed to the risk that the counterparty complies with contractual terms. 

These risks are managed by credit evaluation and distribution of the total risk of a single counterparty. Credit 

risk is distributed via the number of institutes that form the customer database and their different fields of 

business activities. The Group collects its receivables before their maturity with factoring practices, as may be 

required. This is an application parallel to irreversible risk management.  
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Details of credit and receivable risk as of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 are as follows: 

 

    Receivables  

    Trade receivables   Other receivables  

 Related  Related  Deposit in 

Credit risks exposed by types of financial instruments parties Other parties Other banks Other (*) 
 

Maximum credit risk exposed as of 31 December 2018 468 185,667 701 132 619,885 4,538 

   (A+B+C+D) (**)       
 

- Secured portion of the maximum credit risk by guarantees (-) - 64,870 - - - - 
 

A. Net book value of financial assets that are neither past due not impaired 468 180,988 701 132 619,885 4,538 
 

B. Carrying value of financial asstes that are past due but not impaired (***) - 4,679 - - - -      
 

C. Net book value of the impaired assets       

- Past due (gross carrying amount) - 3,467 - - - - 

- Impairment (-) - (3,467) - - - - 

- Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees, etc. - - - - - - 

- Not overdue (gross amount) - - - - - - 

- Impairment (-) - - - - - - 

- Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees, etc. - - - - - - 
 

D. Off-balance sheet items include credit risk - - - - - - 

 
(*) Item contains the financial assets measured at fair value and attributable to income statements. 

(**) The area implies the sum of A, B, C, and D. Amounts showing the maximum credit risk exposed as of balance sheet date by excluding guarantees in hand and other factors that increase the 

credit quality. 

(***) As of 31 December 2018, the aging explanations related with past due but not impaired assets indicated in the aging table of “Past due but not impaired trade receivables”. 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

a) Credit risk (continued) 

    Receivables  

    Trade receivables   Other receivables  

 Related  Related  Deposit in 

Credit risks exposed by types of financial instruments parties Other parties Otherf banks Other (*) 
 

Maximum credit risk exposed as of 31 December 2017 583 145,393 520 138 506,408 3,539 

   (A+B+C+D) (**) 
 

- Secured portion of the maximum credit risk by guarantees (-) - 47,438 - - - - 
 

A. Net book value of financial assets that are neither past due not impaired 583 141,361 520 138 506,408 3,539 
 

B. Carrying value of financial assets that are past due but not impaired (***) -  4,032 -  - - - 
 

C. Net book value of the impaired assets 

- Past due  (gross carrying amount) - 2,358 - - - - 

- Impairment (-) - (2,358) - - - - 

- Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees etc. - - - - - - 

- Not overdue (gross amount) - - - - - - 

- Impariment (-) - - - - - - 

- Secured portion of the net carrying value by guarantees etc. - - - - - - 
 

D. Off balance sheet items include credit risk - - - - - - 

 
(*) Item contains the financial assets measured at fair value and attributable to income statements. 

(**) The area implies the sum of A, B, C, and D. Amounts showing the maximum credit risk exposed as of balance sheet date by excluding guarantees in hand and other factors that increase the 

credit quality. 

(***) As of 31 December 2017, the aging explanations related with past due but not impaired assets indicated in the aging table of “Past due but not impaired trade receivables. 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Details of the past due but not impaired receivables for the years ended at 31 December 2018 and  

31 December 2017 are as follows: 

    Trade receivables from  

31 December 2018 Related parties Other Other 
 

Past due up to 30 days - 2,169 - 

Past due 1 - 3 months - 576 - 

Past due 3 - 12 months - 80 - 

Past due 1 - 5 year (*) - 1,854 - 
 

  - 4,679 - 

 

    Trade receivables from  

31 December 2017 Related parties Other Other 
 

Past due up to 30 days - 1,476 - 

Past due 1 - 3 months - 300 - 

Past due 3 - 12 months - 506 - 

Past due 1 - 5 year (*) - 1,750 - 
 

  - 4,032 - 
 

(*) The most of past due 1 - 5 year receivables consist of the legal authorities and the Group does not expect any 

recoverability risk on receivables. 

 

b) Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk management consists of the holding sufficient cash and cash equivalents, funding via loans and 

capability to close short positions. Additionally, the Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining 

the availability of committed credit lines. 

 

The analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities with respect to their maturities is as follows: 

 

  31 December 2018  
       

   Total    More 

  contactual Up to  3 - 12 1 - 5 than 

Non-derivative Carrying cash outflow 3 months months months 5 years 

   financial liabilities value (I+II+III+IV) (I) (II) (III) (IV) 
 

Other financial liabilities 83,978 108,565 23,679 21,218 63,668 - 

Trade payables due to related parties 7,065 7,068 7,068 - - - 

Other trade payables 186,616 188,012 188,012 - - - 

Other payables and liabilities 7,295 7,295 - 7,295 - - 
 

Total non-derivative 

   financial liabilities 284,954 310,940 218,759 28,513 63,668 - 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

  31 December 2017  
       

   Total    More 

  contractual Up to 3-12 1-5 than 

Non-derivative Carrying cash outflow 3 months months years 5 years 

   financial liabilities value (I+II+III+IV) (I) (II) (III) (IV) 
 

Other financial liabilities 18,632 18,874 3,600 - 15,274 - 

Trade payables due to related parties 3,767 3,767 3,767 - -  - 

Other trade payables 132,203 132,869 132,869 - - - 

Other payables and liabilities 57,099 57,099 - 57,099 - - 
 

Total non-derivative 

   financial liabilities 211,701 212,609 140,236 57,099 15,274 - 

 

c) Market risk 

 

i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing liabilities and 

assets, these exposures are managed by offsetting interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities and using derivative 

instruments when considered necessary.  

 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through floating interest rates bank borrowings. The Group is also 

exposed to fair value interest risk through fixed rate bank borrowings. As of 2018 and 2017, the Group’s 

financial liabilities with floating interest rates are TL, USD and EUR denominated. 

 

Financial instruments with fixed interest rates 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Financial assets   
 

Cash and cash equivalents 619,899 506,419 

 

Financial liabilities   
 

Financial liabilities 83,978 18,632 

 

As disclosed above the Group’s financial instruments have fixed interest rates. However as indicated in Note 6 and 

Note 8, related financial instruments maturities are 1 months or shorter and the maturities of financial liabilities are 

2 years or shorter. Therefore those financial instruments are interest sensitive and the impact on the profit or loss of 

100 basis points change in the interest rates is as follows.  

 

At 31 December 2018, if interest rates at contractual re-pricing dates of TL denominated financial liabilities with 

variable interest rates has strengthened / weakened by 100 basis points (1%) against TL with all other variables 

held constant, profit before tax would have been TL 54 thousand (31 December 2017: TL 73 thousand) higher / 

lower as a result of interest expenses. 

 

Sensitivity analysis of fair value miniority discount rates used for financial investments and rates used for 

discounted cash flows are presented in Note 7. 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

ii) Foreign exchange risk 

 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk through conversion of liabilities to functional currency. The risks 

get under control via analysing foreign exchange positions. 

 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk for EUR and USD, in this context, the exchange risk analysis 

related with main foreign currencies as follows: 

 

         31 December 2018  

        Profit / Loss         Equity  
 

 Appreciation Depreciation Appreciation Depreciation 

 of foreign of foreign of foreign of foreign 

 currency currency currency currency 
 

In case of 20% change in USD against TL: 
 

USD net asset / (liability) 22,834 (22,834) 22,834 (22,834) 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

USD net effect 22,834 (22,834) 22,834 (22,834) 

 

In case of 20% change in EUR against TL: 
 

EUR net asset / (liability) 65,570 (65,570) 65,570 (65,570) 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

EUR net effect 65,570 (65,570) 65,570 (65,570) 

 

In case of 20% change in other foreign 

   exchange rates against TL: 
 

Other foreign currency net asset / (liability) (1,049) 1,049 (1,049) 1,049 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

Other foreign currencies net effect (1,049) 1,049 (1,049) 1,049 
 

Total 87,355 (87,355) 87,355 (87,355) 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

         31 December 2017  

        Profit / Loss         Equity  
 

 Appreciation Depreciation Appreciation Depreciation 

 of foreign of foreign of foreign of foreign 

 currency currency currency currency 
 

In case of 20% change in USD against TL: 
 

USD net asset / (liability) 30,305 (30,305) 30,305 (30,305) 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

USD net effect 30,305 (30,305) 30,305 (30,305) 

 

In case of 20% change in EUR against TL: 
 

EUR net asset / (liability) 37,124 (37,124) 37,124 (37,124) 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

EUR net effect 37,124 (37,124) 37,124 (37,124) 

 

In case of 20% change in other foreign 

   exchange rates against TL: 
 

Other foreign currency net asset / (liability) (789) 789 (789) 789 

Secured position (-) - - - - 
 

Other foreign currencies net effect (789) 789 (789) 789 
 

Total 66,640 (66,640) 66,640 (66,640) 

 

TL equivalents of assets and liabilities held by the Group denominated in foreign currency at 31 December 2018 

and 2017 in consideration of foreign exchange rates are as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

USD 5.2609  3.7719 

EUR 6.0280  4.5155 

GBP 6.6528  5.0803 

CHF 5.3352  3.8548 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

The amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in original and foreign currencies and their TL equivalents as 

of 31 December 2018 were as follows:  

  31 December 2018  

  Original amounts  

 Total   

 TL equivalent USD EUR CHF 
 

Trade receivables 142 - 24 - 

Monetary financial assets 555,603 36,581 60,244 - 

Other - - - - 
 

Current Assets 555,745 36,581 60,268 - 
 

Monetary financial assets 3,392 645 - - 
 

Non-current Assets 3,392 645 - - 
 

Total Assets 559,137 37,226 60,268 - 

 

Trade payables 99,413 14,187 3,241 983 

Monetary financial assets 3,449 656 - - 
 

Short Term Liabilities 102,862 14,843 3,241 983 
 

Financial assets - - - - 

Monetary financial liabilities 19,498 682 2,640 - 
 

Long Term Liabilities 19,498 682 2,640 - 
 

Total Liabilities 122,360 15,525 5,881 983 
 

Net asset / (liability) position of 

   derivative financial assets (A-B) - - - - 

A.  Total amount of off-balance sheet 

derivative financial assets - - -  

B.  Total amount of off-balance sheet 

derivative financial liabilities - - - - 
 

Net foreign currency  

   asset / (liability) position 436,777 21,701 54,387 (983) 
 

Net foreign currency asset / (liability) 

   position of monetary items 436,777 21,701 54,387 (983) 
 

Export 18 - 3 - 

Import 248,739 28,864 16,073 -  



EİS ECZACIBAŞI İLAÇ, SINAİ VE FİNANSAL YATIRIMLAR SANAYİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.) 

 

80 

NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

The amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in original and foreign currencies and their TL equivalents as 

of 31 December 2017 were as follows: 

  31 December 2017  

  Original amounts  

 Total   

 TL equivalent USD EUR GBP 
 

Trade receivables 93 - 21 - 

Monetary financial assets 405,472 55,385 43,531 - 

Other 354 94 - - 
 

Current Assets 405,919 55,479 43,552 - 
 

Monetary financial assets 3,185 844 - - 
 

Non-current Assets 3,185 844 - - 
 

Total Assets 409,104 56,323 43,552 - 

 

Trade payables 66,898 15,760 1,376 244 

Financial liabilities 2,512 666 - - 
 

Current Liabilities 69,410 16,426 1,376 244 
 

Monetary other liabilities - - - - 
 

Non-current Liabilities - - - - 
 

Total Liabilities 69,410 16,426 1,376 244 
 

Net asset / (liability) position of 

   derivative financial assets (A-B) - - - - 

A.  Total amount of off-balance sheet 

   derivative financial assets - - -  

B.  Total amount of off-balance sheet 

   derivative financial liabilities - - - - 
 

Net foreign currency  

   asset / (liability) position 339,694 39,897 42,176 (244) 
 

Net foreign currency asset / (liability) 

  position of monetary items 339,694 39,897 42,176 (244) 
 

Export 21,681 1,861 1,692 1,382 

Import 240,217 32,798 19,897 5,248 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

c) Market risk (continued) 

 

  31 December 2018   31 December 2017  

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 

Forward foreign exchange contracts - - 5,434 - 
 

 - - 5,434 - 

 

The Group utilizes currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and cash flows. The Group is party 

to a variety of foreign currency forward contracts and options in the management of its exchange rate exposures. 

The instruments purchased are primarily denominated in the currencies of the Group’s principal markets. 

 

At the end of the reporting period, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to 

which the Group is committed are as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Forward foreign exchange contracts - 168,163 
 

As of 31 December - 168,163 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

d) Categories and fair values of financial instruments  

 

   Financial assets at   

 Financial assets at  fair value in other   

 fair value through Financial liabilities comprehensive   

31 December 2018 profit or loss stated at amortised cost income Carrying amount Note 

 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - 619,899 - 619,899 6 

Trade receivables - 185,667 - 185,667 10 

Receivables from related parties - 468 - 468 9 

Financial investments 4,538 - 3,019,743 3,024,281 7 

 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities - 83,978 - 83,978 8 

Trade payables - 186,616 - 186,616 10 

Payables to related parties - 7,065 - 7,065 9 

 

Group Management believes that the carrying amount of financial instruments represent their fair values. 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

d) Categories and fair values of financial instruments (continued) 

 

   Financial assets at   

 Financial assets at  fair value in other   

 fair value through Financial liabilities comprehensive   

31 December 2017 profit or loss stated at amortised cost income Carrying amount Note 

 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - 506,419 - 506,419 6 

Trade receivables - 145,393 - 145,393 10 

Receivables from related parties - 583 - 583 9 

Financial investments 3,539 - 2,588,218 2,591,757 7 

 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities - 18,632 - 18,632 8 

Trade payables - 132,203 - 132,203 10 

Payables to related parties - 3,767 - 3,767 9 

 

Group Management believes that the carrying amount of financial instruments represent their fair values. 
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NOTE 31 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

e) Capital risk management 

 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns 

while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. 

 

The capital structure of the Company consists of debts including the borrowings and other debts disclosed in 

Notes 8, 9 and 20, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in Note 6 and equity attributable to equity holders of the 

parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in Note 23. 

 

The Group Management considers the cost of capital and risks associated with each class of capital. The 

Company Management aims to balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share 

issues and the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. 

 

The Group controls its capital using the net debt / total equity ratio. This ratio is the calculated as net debt 

divided by the total equity amount. Net debt is calculated as total liability amount (comprises of financial 

liabilities, leasing and trade payables as presented in the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. 

 

As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the Group’s net debt / total equity ratio is detailed as follows: 

 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 

Financial liabilities 83,978 18,632 

Cash and cash equivalents and 

     current financial investments (619,899) (506,419) 
 

Net debt (535,921) (487,787) 

 

Total equity 3,997,844 3,480,655 

Total capital 3,461,923 2,992,868 
 

Net debt / Total capital (15%) (16%) 

 

The general strategy of the Group does not differ from the previous period. 
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NOTE 32 - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 

1) In accordance with a decision of a General Assembly Meeting held on 30 January 2019, The Group has 

decided to increase the existing TL 450,000 thousand capital of Vitra Karo, which is 25% share owned by 

the Group, to TL 750,000 thousand in cash;  

 

- In the Company's Board of Directors meeting held on 23 January 2019; it is decided to participate 

capital increase of 75,000,000 shares, which are equivalent of TL 75,000 thousand capital for Group’s 

corresponding share of TL 300,000 thousand and each worths 1 Turkish Lira. 25% of TL 75,000 

thousand will be paid in cash prior to the registation of the capital increase, while the remaining 75% 

will be paid in cash after the registration of the capital increase latest in 24 months and the timing of 

remaining payment will be determined in Board of Directors meetings. The capital increase was 

registered on 12 February 2019. 

 

2) In the Company’s Board of Directors meeting held on 1 February 2019, it was decided below based on 

assessment upon acquisition of Shire Plc by Tekada Pharmaceutical Company Limited on 8 January 2019. 

Shire Plc is the main shareholder of Baxalta GmbH which is another 50% of shareholder of Eczacıbaşı 

Shire.  

 

- It was decided to initiate the necessary legal process for the transfer of 50% of its shares in Eczacıbaşı 

Shire, which has a contractual right in accordance with the Shareholders Agreement with Baxalta 

GmbH dated 25 January 2016 and hold meetings in this context. Group has calculated TL 85,888 

thousand sale price for Eczacıbaşı Shire for 50% of EIS shares within the consideration of 

“Shareholders Agreement” and  the final sale price will be agreed after a negotiation with the other 

party. 

 

 

 

 

 

…………………………. 
 




